On Affine Embeddings of Reductive Groups

by

Yoonsuk Hyun

Submitted to the Department of Mathematics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

at the



LIBRARIES

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

September 2011

© Massachusetts Institute of Technology 2011. All rights reserved.



 $\mathbf{2}$

On Affine Embeddings of Reductive Groups

by

Yoonsuk Hyun

Submitted to the Department of Mathematics on August 5, 2011, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

Abstract

In this thesis, we study the properties and the classification of embeddings of homogeneous spaces, especially the case of affine normal embeddings of reductive groups. We might guess that as in the case of toric varieties, some specific subset of one-parameter subgroups may contribute to the classification of affine embeddings of general reductive group. To check this, we review the theory of affine normal SL(2)-embeddings, and prove that the classification cannot be solved entirely based on one-parameter subgroups. We can also show that even though this set does not give a complete answer to the classification problem, but still contains useful information about varieties. We will also give examples of GL(2)embeddings which had not previously been constructed in detail, which might be helpful in understanding the general classification of affine normal G-embeddings.

Thesis Supervisor: James M^cKernan Title: Professor

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I offer my sincerest gratitude to my advisor, Prof. James M^cKernan, who supported me throughout my thesis with his patience and deep knowledge. I appreciate his contributions of time and ideas to make my Ph.D. experience productive and stimulating. and without him this thesis would not have been completed. One simply could not wish for a better supervisor.

I am truly indebted to the professors in Korea, especially to Prof. Seok-Jin Kang, Prof. Young-Hoon Kiem, Prof. Myung-Hwan Kim, Prof. Yongnam Lee, and Prof. Yongjin Song. Their helpful comments, kind advice, and cheerful support gave me the confidence to keep going and follow my goal. I am very honored to have such great mentors during my undergraduate and graduate studies in mathematics.

The Department of Mathematics at MIT has provided all the support I can imagine. I'd like to thank superb faculty members and instructors, especially Chenyang Xu for giving me supportive comments and advice, and being a thesis committee member. The staff in our department is always helpful and professional. I also want to thank my fellow graduate students for their friendly attitude, energy and passion toward not only mathematics but also any topic in the world. Especially my academic brothers, Brian Lehmann, Kartik Venkatram, John Lesieutre, Tiankai Liu, Roberto Svaldi, and Shashank Dwivedi, who have been helpful and great colleagues of mine for having a discussion about birational geometry, and funny, pleasant buddies for hanging out.

I gratefully acknowledge the Samsung Scholarship that made my Ph.D. work possible. Their generous support allowed me to focus on research itself, and it was great to know fellow scholarship students who were dealing with similar worries, and trying hard to achieve their goals. My time at MIT was especially enjoyable in large part due to many fellow Korean friends who became a part of my life. Particularly, inside math department, Junkyu Ahn, Jerin Gu, Kyomin Jung, Jaeil Kim, Sungyoon Kim, Joungkeun Lim, Suho Oh, Jinwoo Shin, Uhi Rinn Suh, Tonghun Suk, Hwanchul Yoo, and Taedong Yun, and outside the department, Eun Seon Cho, Seung Ki Kwak, Suehyun Kwon, and Eun-Suk Lee spent a lot of times with me and have been reliable and entertaining friends. All the memories with them are just priceless.

I would like to thank to my friends at Harvard University too, especially to Doory Kim for making my life in the great city of Boston much more colorful and pleasant. I am also grateful to my friends from high school and college, specially to Andrew Jooyong Ahn, Younghan Park and Seung-Jo Jung for all the fun we shared together in mathematics and beyond.

I also thank one of my thesis defense committee member, Prof. Stefen Kebekus, for his time and insightful questions.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family for all their love and encouragement. They supported me in all my pursuits, and tried to do whatever they could do. It's difficult to describe in words how much I adore my parents and sister.

Yoonsuk Hyun Cambridge, MA, USA August 2011

Contents

1	\mathbf{Eml}	beddings of Homogeneous Spaces	9
	1.1	First Examples	10
		1.1.1 Toric Varieties	10
		1.1.2 Flag Varieties	15
	1.2	Spherical Varieties and the theory of Luna-Vust	16
		1.2.1 Basic properties of Spherical Varieties	17
		1.2.2 Classification of Spherical Varieties	18
	1.3	Affine Embeddings of Homogeneous Space	19
2	One	e-Parameter Subgroup of Affine Embeddings	23
	2.1	Equivalence Relation on $\mathfrak{X}_*(G)$	24
	2.2	One-parameter Subgroup of Affine G -Embeddings \ldots \ldots \ldots	26
3	Affi	ne Normal $SL(2)$ -Embedding	29
	3.1	U-invariant Ring of Quasihomogeneous Variety	29
	3.2	First Properties and U -invariant ring of $\mathcal{O}(X)$	32
	3.3	Classification of Affine Normal $SL(2)$ -Embedding	38
	3.4	Construction of Normal Affine $SL(2)$ -embedding	42
	3.5	Affine Normal $SL(2)$ -Embedding and $\Gamma(X, x_0)$	44
		3.5.1 Structures of $\Gamma(X, x_0)$	44
		3.5.2 Some applications using $\Gamma(X, x_o)$	50
	~		

4 Some examples of Affine Normal *GL*(2)-embedding 53

Chapter 1

Embeddings of Homogeneous Spaces

One interesting problem in algebraic geometry is the study of algebraic group acting on algebraic varieties. We are interested in the case when the one of the orbits of this action is dense. It is well known that any orbit is open in its closure, so a dense orbit is automatically open in X. An irreducible algebraic G-variety X is said to be an *embedding* of the homogeneous space G/H, or G/H-embedding, if X contains an open G-orbit isomorphic to G/H. (When this variety is normal in addition, we often call it a *quasihomogeneous variety*.) Toric varieties are the most famous examples of G/H-embeddings where G is an algebraic torus and H is the trivial subgroup. Also, flag varieties are another interesting examples of G/Hembedding, and as a generalization of these varieties, spherical varieties have been studied widely. In [22], Luna and Vust give a classification of spherical varieties by suggesting combinatorial structures called colored fan.

Throughout this thesis, we will work over a ground field \mathbb{C} , which can be replaced by any algebraic closed field of characteristic 0. G denotes a connected reductive algebraic group unless otherwise specified, and H is an algebraic subgroup of G. All algebraic groups and varieties are assumed to be defined over \mathbb{C} .

1.1 First Examples

1.1.1 Toric Varieties

Let $T = \mathbb{G}_m^n$ is an algebraic torus defined over \mathbb{C} . A toric variety X is a normal *T*-variety which contains *T* as a dense open subvariety so that the action of *T* on *X* extends the regular action of *T* on itself by multiplication. By a theorem of Sumihiro [30], there is a covering of *X* by *T*-stable, affine open subvarieties which are therefore again toric varieties. Hence every toric variety may be obtained by gluing affine toric varieties together. This implies that the classification of toric varieties can be reduced to the problem of classifying affine toric varieties, and observing how those varieties are glued together. The basic theory of toric varieties can be found in many places such as [8], [11], [16].

Suppose X is an affine toric variety, namely X = Spec A. The open embedding $T \hookrightarrow X$ corresponds to an injective homomorphism $A \to \mathbb{C}[T] \cong \mathbb{C}[x_1, x_1^{-1}, \cdots, x_r, x_r^{-1}]$. The action of T on X induces an action of T on A as well via $t \cdot f \mapsto f(t^{-1}x)$ for all $f \in A$.

We denote the set of one-parameter subgroups of T, $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_m, T)$ by $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)$. This is a free abelian group, which is dual to the group of characters of T (which we denote as $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)$), with respect to the perfect paring $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \mathfrak{X}^*(T) \times \mathfrak{X}_*(T) \to \mathbb{Z}$ determined by

$$\chi(\gamma(a)) = a^{\langle \chi, \gamma \rangle}$$

for all $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^*(T), \gamma \in \mathfrak{X}_*(T), a \in \mathbb{C}^*$.

Let S be a finitely generated semigroup in $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)$. Set $\mathbb{C}[S]$ equal to the \mathbb{C} subalgebra of $\mathbb{C}[T] = \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}^*(T)]$ generated by characters $\chi \in S$. As S is finitely generated, $\mathbb{C}[S]$ is a \mathbb{C} -algebra of finite type. If S generates $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ as a group, then the inclusion $\mathbb{C}[S] \subset \mathbb{C}[T]$ induces an equivariant embedding $T \subset \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[S]$, and every equivariant T-embedding can be obtained in this way:

Proposition 1. The correspondence $S \mapsto \mathbb{C}[S]$ defines a bijection between the set of finitely generated semigroups $S \subset \mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ which generate $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ as a group and the set of isomorphism classes of equivariant affine embeddings of T. Moreover, the morphisms of equivariant affine embeddings correspond (in a contravariant way) to inclusions between semigroups contained in $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)$.

A semigroup $S \subset \mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ is called *saturated* if $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ and $\chi^n \in S$ for some positive integer *n*, implies that $\chi \in S$. The normality condition of toric varieties corresponds to the saturated condition:

Theorem 1.1.1. The correspondence $S \mapsto \mathbb{C}[S]$ defines a bijection between the set of finitely generated saturated semigroups $S \subset \mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ which generate $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ as a group and the set of equivariant normal affine embeddings of T.

Therefore, we can classify affine toric varieties by classifying all such saturated semigroups of $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)$. For a torus T, we can regard $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)$ as a \mathbb{Z} -lattice in the real vector space $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}} = \mathfrak{X}_*(T) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$.

Definition 1.1.2. Let $\sigma \subset \mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$. We call σ a convex rational polyhedral cone if $\sigma = \{\sum_{i=1}^N \lambda_i v_i : \lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}, \text{ for all } i\}$ for some finite collection of elements $v_i \in \mathfrak{X}_*(T)$. We say a convex rational polyhedral cone σ is a strongly convex rational polyhedral cone if it does not contain any non-zero linear subspace of $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$.

A strongly convex rational polyhedral cone σ associates to its dual cone $\sigma^{\vee} \subset \mathfrak{X}^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$, which is defined as

$$\sigma^{\vee} = \{ u \in \mathfrak{X}^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}} : \langle u, v \rangle \ge 0 \text{ for all } v \in \sigma \}.$$

It is easy to show that σ^{\vee} is a convex, rational, polyhedral cone in $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $(\sigma^{\vee})^{\vee} = \sigma$. The correspondence $\sigma \mapsto \sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ defines a bijection between the set

of strongly convex rational polyhedral cones and the set of finitely generated semigroups in $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ which are saturated and generate $\mathfrak{X}^*(T)$ as a group by Gordan's Lemma:

Lemma 1.1.3 (Gordan's Lemma). Given a finite set of homogeneous linear integral inequalities, the semigroup of integral solutions is finitely generated.

So we can classify affine toric varieties:

Theorem 1.1.4. The correspondence $\sigma \mapsto \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)] = X_{\sigma}$ defines a bijection between the set of strongly convex, rational, polyhedral cones in $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ and the set of affine toric varieties with torus T. Moreover, for $\gamma \in \mathfrak{X}_*(T)$, we have $\gamma \in \sigma$ if and only if $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)$ exists in X_{σ} .

Therefore, affine toric varieties X are of the form X_{σ} , where

$$\sigma = \{\gamma \in \mathfrak{X}_*(T) : \lim_{t \to 0} \gamma(t) \text{ exists in } X\}$$

is a strongly convex, rational, polyhedral cone with $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)$.

To construct general toric varieties beside the affine case, we need a new structure called a *fan*. Before we define this, recall $\sigma^{\vee} \subset \mathfrak{X}^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ is the set of $u \in \mathfrak{X}^*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ such that $\langle u, v \rangle \geq 0$ for all $v \in \sigma$. For each $\chi \in \sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)$, define $\chi^{\perp} = \{x \in \mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}} : \langle \chi, x \rangle = 0\}$. If a cone τ can be obtained as $\sigma \cap \chi^{\perp}$, then we call τ a *face* of σ and write $\tau \prec \sigma$.

Definition 1.1.5. A fan Σ in $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a finite collection of rational strongly convex polyhedral cones σ in $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ such that

- 1. Every face of a cone of Σ is also a cone in Σ
- 2. The intersection of two cones in Σ is a face of each cone.

From a fan Σ , the toric variety X_{Σ} is constructed by taking the disjoint union of the affine toric varieties X_{σ} , one for each σ in Σ , and gluing as follows : for cones σ and τ , the intersection $\sigma \cap \tau$ is a face of each cone, so $X_{\sigma \cap \tau}$ is identified as a principal open subvariety of X_{σ} and of X_{τ} . Hence we can glue X_{σ} to X_{τ} by this identification on these open subvarieties. The fact that these identifications are compatible follows immediately from the order preserving nature of the correspondence from cones to affine varieties. (If $\tau \prec \sigma$, then $\mathbb{C}[\tau^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)]$ is the localization of $\mathbb{C}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)]$ at χ , where $\tau = \sigma \cap \chi^{\perp}$, so X_{τ} is an open subvariety of X_{σ} .) Moreover, the torus $T \cong X_{\{0\}}$ is naturally an open dense subset of X_{σ} since $\{0\}$ is a face of every cone, so we have an open embedding of T onto X_{Σ} . Therefore, we have following correspondences.

Theorem 1.1.6. The correspondence $\Sigma \mapsto X_{\Sigma}$ defines a bijection between fans in $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$ and isomorphism classes of toric varieties with a torus T.

A lot of properties of a toric variety can be observed directly from its fan. Some properties of algebraic variety are corresponding to combinatorial properties in its fan in the lattice, so it makes us easier to understand and compute invariants on the variety. Here are some examples of such properties.

- **Proposition 2.** 1. X is complete if and only if the fan Σ is complete. (The fan Σ is called complete if for all points $x \in \mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$, there exists a cone in Σ containing x.)
 - X is smooth if and only if all cones of Σ are generated by a part of a basis of the lattice Z^r ≅ X_{*}(T).
 - 3. X is Q-factorial if and only if all cones of Σ are generated by linearly independent elements of the lattice $\mathbb{Z}^r \cong \mathfrak{X}_*(T)$.

Now we need to check that how the torus T acts on its toric varieties in terms of the cones and fan. Since the fan is composed of cones, it is enough to check the torus action on cones. (The compatibility naturally comes from the conditions to be a fan.) Without using coordinates, we can describe this as following. When A is \mathbb{C} -algebra, there is an isomorphism of functors Spec $A \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(A, \mathbb{C})$. Then $T = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}^*(T)] = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}^*(T)], \mathbb{C}) \text{ can be considered as the collection of semigroup homomorphisms } \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{X}^*(T), \mathbb{G}_m), \text{ while } X_{\sigma} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)] = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{C}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)], \mathbb{C}) \text{ consists of } \mathbb{C}\text{-algebra homomorphisms from } \mathbb{C}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)] \text{ to } \mathbb{C}.$ Therefore, we can express $x \in X_{\sigma}$ as the element $\underline{x} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{C}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)], \mathbb{C})$ such that $\underline{x}(m) = m(x)$. Then the action of T on X_{σ} can be described as following :

For
$$t \in T$$
 and $x \in X_{\sigma}$, $(t \cdot \underline{x})(m) = \underline{t}(m)\underline{x}(m)$

where the multiplication on the right side is nothing but multiplication in \mathbb{C} .

We can describe this action by using coordinates. Let (a_1, \dots, a_s) be a system of generators of the monoid $\sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathfrak{X}^*(T)$. With a standard basis of $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)_{\mathbb{R}}$, each a_i may be written in the form $a_i = (a_{i1}, \dots, a_{ir})$ with $a_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $t \in T$ is written as (t_1, \dots, t_r) with $t_j \in \mathbb{G}_m(\mathbb{C})$. When a point $x \in X_\sigma$ is written $x = (x_1, \dots, x_r)$, then the action $T \times X_\sigma \to X_\sigma$ of T on the affine subvariety X_σ is

$$(t,x)\mapsto (t^{a_1}x_1,\cdots t^{a_r}x_r)$$

where $t^{a_i} = t_1^{a_{i1}} \cdots t_r^{a_{ir}} \in \mathbb{G}_m(\mathbb{C}).$

As the action of T on a toric variety X_{Σ} can be depicted in terms of fans, the orbits of X_{Σ} with respect to T can be described using Σ . For each cone $\sigma \in \Sigma$, there is a base point $x_{\sigma} \in X_{\Sigma}$ which is the limit point of any one-parameter subgroups in the relative interior of the cone σ . These base points correspond to T-orbits $T \cdot x_{\sigma}$ in X_{Σ} , and moreover, the orbits of T in X of dimension d are in bijection with the cones of codimension d of Σ . In particular, fixed points are parameterized by cones of dimension n and T-stable divisors by one-dimensional cones.

1.1.2 Flag Varieties

The algebraic group G is called semi-simple when the radical R(G) of G is trivial where R(G) is the maximal closed, connected, normal, solvable subgroup of G. In this section, we will assume that G is a semi-simple, connected algebraic group over \mathbb{C} . Such groups are almost classified by their Dynkin diagrams (of type $A_n, B_n, C_n, D_n, E_6, E_7, E_8, F_4$, and G_2) or equivalently, by their root systems. One fundamental techinque to study algebraic groups is to study its Borel subgroups. A Borel subgroup is maximal, solvable, closed, connected subgroup of G. If G is reductive, all Borel subgroups are conjugate to each other. If the closed subgroup P of G contains a Borel subgroup of G, then we call P a parabolic subgroup of G.

Proposition 3. For any complete homogeneous space X, we can find G and a parabolic subgroup P such that $X \simeq G/P$, and X is smooth projective space.

We call a complete homogeneous space G/P a flag variety. Let S be the set of simple roots of G. Then the set of parabolic subgroups of G containing B (and then all the set of isomorphism classes of flag varieties with G fixed) is in bijection with the set of subsets of S. Therefore for $I \subset S$, we can associate a parabolic subgroup P_I . In order to understand the geometry of flag varieties, we often use their decomposition into B-orbits.

Proposition 4 (Bruhat Decomposition). When W is the Weyl group of G and B, we have a decomposition

$$G = \bigsqcup_{w \in W} B \dot{w} B$$

where \dot{w} is a representative of w in G. In particular,

$$G/B = \bigsqcup_{w \in W} B\dot{w}B/B$$
 and $G/P = \bigsqcup_{w \in W/W_P} B\dot{w}P/P$

where if $P = P_I$, W_P is the subgroup of W generated by the simple reflections associated to elements of $S \setminus I$.

Since W is finite, we have the following conclusion.

Corollary 1. Flag varieties have an open orbit under the action of a Borel subgroup.

The closure of the *B*-orbits in G/P are called the Schubert varieties (often written as X(w)), and they play an important role in the study of G/P. The dimension of X(w) is the length l(w) of w (the minimal number of simple reflections in the expression of w as a product of simple reflections.) In particular, there exists a unique element w_0 of maximal length in W/W_P .

If G is not semi-simple but reductive, then G/P is isomorphic to $G'/(G' \cap P)$ where G' is the semi-simple part (or equivalently, the derived subgroup) of G and then it is still a flag variety.

1.2 Spherical Varieties and the theory of Luna-Vust

From now on, G can be any reductive and connected algebraic group over \mathbb{C} . For a closed subgroup $H \subset G$, the homogeneous space G/H is spherical if B acts on it with an open orbit. More generally, G/H is spherical whenever H contains a maximal unipotent subgroup of G. Also, we define a spherical variety as a normal algebraic variety with an action of G and a dense orbit of B. It can be also described as a G/H-embedding for a spherical homogeneous space G/H. The first examples of spherical varieties are toric varieties (a Borel subgroup of T is T itself), flag varieties, and symmetric spaces. For this section, our main sources are [2], [7], [25].

The rather abstract notion of a spherical variety actually has a very rich geometry, which is only partially understood. It combines features of flag varieties and of symmetric spaces. As for toric varieties, the geometry of fans and convex polytopes play a role, too. Also, spherical varieties are a test case for studying action of reductive groups. More precisely, several phenomena, first discovered for spherical varieties, have been generalized to arbitrary varieties with reductive group actions. However, many results find a simpler and more precise formulation in the case of spherical varieties.

1.2.1 Basic properties of Spherical Varieties

For an algebraic variety X with an action of B, we define its complexity c(X) as the minimal codimension of a B-orbit in X. By a classical result of Rosenlicht [29], c(X) is the transcendence degree of the extension $k(X)^B/k$ where k(X) denotes the function field of X, and $k(X)^B$ its subfield of B-invariants. The set of weights of eigenvectors of B in k(X) is denoted by $\Gamma(X)$. Then $\Gamma(X)$ is a free abelian group of finite rank r(X), and this number is called the rank of X. Motivation for these notions is the following result, due to Vinberg in characteristic zero [33], and to Knop in general [19].

Theorem 1.2.1. For any G-variety X, and for any closed, B-stable subvariety $Y \subset X$, we have $c(Y) \leq c(X)$ and $r(Y) \leq r(X)$.

Note that spherical varieties are exactly varieties with the complexity is zero. So the theorem implies the following corollary.

Corollary 2. A G-variety X is spherical if and only if X contains only finitely many B-orbits.

In particular, any spherical variety contains only finitely many G-orbits, and all of them are spherical. On the other hand, for any nonspherical G-variety X, there exist a G-variety \widetilde{X} that is G-birational to X and that contains infinitely many G-orbits.

The rank of a G-variety is an important invariant; and it generalizes the rank of a symmetric space. The G-varieties of rank zero are just unions of flag varieties. There is a very useful classification of homogeneous spaces of rank one ([1], [26]). Namely, several theorems on spherical varieties use reduction to rank one.

1.2.2 Classification of Spherical Varieties

Recall that an embedding of a homogeneous space G/H is a normal G-variety with an open G-orbit isomorphic to G/H. The embeddings of a given spherical homogeneous space G/H are classified by combinatorial objects called *colored* fans, which generalize the fans associated with toric varieties. This theory, due to Luna and Vust in characteristic zero [22], has been simplified and extended to all characteristics by Knop [18]. Here a basic role is played by the set $\mathcal{V}(G/H)$ of G-invariant valuations of the field k(G/H), with rational values. It turns out that $\mathcal{V}(G/H)$ is identified with a convex polyhedral cone in the \mathbb{Q} -vector space $\mathcal{Q}(G/H) := \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{X}^*(G/H), \mathbb{Q})$. In characteristic zero, this cone turns out to be a fundamental domain for some finite reflection group W(G/H) acting on $\mathcal{Q}(G/H)$ [6].

An embedding X of spherical G/H is called *toroidal* if the closure in X of any *B*-stable divisor in G/H contains no *G*-orbit. Toroidal embeddings of G/H are classified by fans with support in $\mathcal{V}(G/H)$, i.e. partial subdivisions of $\mathcal{V}(G/H)$ into convex polyhedral cones that contain no line. Smooth, toroidal embeddings are regular, which means that they satisfy the following conditions [5]:

- 1. Each G-orbit closure is smooth, and is the transversal intersection of the smooth orbit closures that contain it.
- 2. The isotropy group of any point x acts on the normal space to the orbit $G \cdot x$ with an open orbit.

Conversely, if a homogeneous space G/H admits a *complete* regular embedding X, then G/H is spherical and X is toroidal. The compactifications of symmetric spaces constructed by DeConcini and Procesi are exactly their smooth, toroidal embeddings [9], [34].

The problem of classifying spherical spaces by combinatorial invariants is still open, and only completed in very special cases. (Horospherical varieties, symmetric varieties and wonderful varieties are some of the cases we already understand well.) Nevertheless, Losev recently proved a uniqueness property for spherical homogeneous spaces.[21]

We have already seen combinatorial invariants of spherical homogeneous spaces: the lattice M of weights of k(G/H), the valuation cone and the set \mathcal{D} of colors of G/H together with a map σ from \mathcal{D} to the dual N of M. We just have to add one natural family of invariants (the stabilizers in G of the colors) in order to have the uniqueness of spherical homogenous spaces. More precisely,

Theorem 1.2.2. Let G/H_1 and G/H_2 be two spherical homogeneous spaces with the same weight lattice M, the same valuation cone in $N := Hom_{\mathbb{Z}}(M,\mathbb{Z})$ and set of colors \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 respectively (together with maps σ_1 and σ_2 from \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 to N respectively) such that there exists a bijection $\iota : \mathcal{D}_1 \to \mathcal{D}_2$ satisfying, for all $D \in \mathcal{D}_1$, $\sigma_1(D) = \sigma_2(\iota(D))$ and $Stab_G D = Stab_G \iota(D)$. Then G/H_1 and G/H_2 are G-equivariantly isomorphic.

1.3 Affine Embeddings of Homogeneous Space

Recall that an irreducible algebraic G-variety X is said to be an embedding of the homogeneous space G/H if X contains an open G-orbit isomorphic to G/H. We often use the notation $G/H \hookrightarrow X$. Let us say that an embedding $G/H \hookrightarrow X$ is affine if the variety X is affine. It is reasonable to study specific properties of affine embeddings in the framework of a well-developed general embedding theory for following two reasons. First, from toric vareities, affine embedding may contribute to understand general embeddings. Secondly, in many problems of invariant theory, representation theory, and other branches of mathematics, mostly affine embeddings of homogeneous space appear.

It is easy to show that a homogeneous space G/H admits an affine embedding if and only if G/H is quasi-affine as an algebraic variety. In this situation, the subgroup H is said to be *observable* in G. A closed subgroup H of G is observable if and only if there exist a rational finite dimensional G-module V and a vector $v \in V$ such that the stabilizer G_v coincides with H. (This follows from the fact that any affine G-variety may be realized a a closed invariant subvariety in a finite dimensional G-module.) There is a nice group theoretic description of observable subgroups due to A. Sukhanov: a subgroup H is observable in G if and only if there exists a quasi-parabolic subgroup $Q \subset G$ such that $H \subset Q$ and the unipotent radical H^u is contained in the unipotent radical Q^u . (A subgroup Q is said to be quasi-parabolic if Q is the stabilizer of a highest weight vector in some G-module V.) It follows from Chevalley's theorem that any subgroup H without non-trivial characters (in particular, any unipotent subgroup) is observable. By Matsushima's criterion, a homogeneous space G/H is affine if and only if H is reductive. In particular, any reductive subgroup is observable. A description of affine homogeneous space G/H for non-reductive G is still an open problem.

One famous class of affine embeddings are affine toric varieties, which we've already seen in the previous section. The classification of affine toric varieties will serve us as a guide to the study of more complicated classes of affine embeddings. Generalizations of a combinatorial description of toric varieties were obtained for spherical varieties, and for embeddings of complexity one. In this more general context, the idea that normal G-varieties may be described by some convex cones becomes rigorous through the method of U-invariants developed by D. Luna and T. Vust. The essence of this method is contained in the following theorem.

Theorem 1.3.1. Let \mathfrak{A} be a G-algebra and U be a maximal unipotent subgroup of G. Consider the following properties of an algebra:

- 1. It is finitely generated.
- 2. It has no nilpotent elements.
- 3. It has no zero divisors.
- 4. It is integrally closed.

If (P) is any of these properties, then the algebra \mathfrak{A} has property (P) if and only if the algebra \mathfrak{A}^U has property (P).

Another interesting aspect of affine embedding is the connection with Hilbert's 14th problem. Let H be a closed subgroup GL(V). Hilbert's 14th problem (in its modern version) may be formulated as follows: characterize subgroups H such that the algebra of polynomial invariants $k[V]^H$ is finitely generated. It is a classical result that for H reductive the algebra $k[V]^H$ is finitely generated. For non-reductive linear groups this problem seems to be very far from a complete solution.

Let us assume that H is a subgroup of a bigger reductive group G acting on V. The intersection of a family of observable subgroups in G is an observable subgroup. Define the *observable hull* \hat{H} of H as the minimal observable subgroup of G containing H. The stabilizer of any H-fixed vector in a rational G-module contains \hat{H} . Therefore $k[V]^H = k[V]^{\hat{H}}$ for any G-module V, and it is natural to solve Hilbert's 14th problem for observable subgroups.

The following famous theorem proved by F. Grosshans establishes a close connection between Hilbert's 14th problem and the theory of affine embeddings [12], [13].

Theorem 1.3.2. Let H be an observable subgroup of a reductive group G. The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. For any G-module V the algebra $k[V]^H$ is finitely generated.
- 2. The algebra k[G/H] is finitely generated.
- 3. There exists an affine embedding $G/H \hookrightarrow X$ such that $\operatorname{codim}_X(X \setminus (G/H)) \ge 2$.
- **Definition 1.3.3.** 1. An observable subgroup H in G is said to be a *Grosshans* subgroup if k[G/H] is finitely generated.
 - 2. If H is a Grosshans subgroup of G, then $G/H \hookrightarrow X = \operatorname{Spec} k[G/H]$ is called the canonical embedding of G/H, and X is denoted by CE(G/H).

Note that any normal affine embedding $G/H \hookrightarrow X$ with $\operatorname{codim}_X(X \setminus (G/H)) \ge$

2 is G-isomorphic to the canonical embedding. A homogeneous space G/H admits

such an embedding if and only if H is a Grosshans subgroup. By Matsushima's criterion, H is reductive if and only if CE(G/H) = G/H. For non-reductive subgroups, CE(G/H) is an interesting object canonically associated with the pair (G, H). One can use CE(G/H) to reformulate algebraic problems concerning the algebra k[G/H] in geometric terms. For more about Hilbert's 14th problem and affine embeddings, you may see [3], [10], [31].

Chapter 2

One-Parameter Subgroup of Affine Embeddings

Embeddings of homogeneous spaces are studied well for spherical varieties, but it is not well-known for other cases, especially when the complexity is bigger than 1. Therefore, we want to study embedding of homogeneous space apart from the complexity. It is reasonable to think simple cases first, therefore we are now trying to understand when X is affine normal embeddings of reductive group G, instead of homogeneous space G/H.

Based on knowledge about toric geometry, one might guess that one-parameter subgroup play an important role to determine the G-variety. So we are interested in describing and classifying affine G-embeddings X by using one-parameter subgroup of G. From the theory of toric varieties, it is natural to consider the one-parameter subgroups of G whose limit exists in X. One-parameter subgroups and their limits have been studied in several applications, including the Hilbert-Mumford criterion of stability [23], the construction of the spherical building of the group G and the Bialynicki-Birula decomposition of a smooth projective T-variety [4]. For our purpose, we will check that an affine G-embedding X is determined by the set of one-parameter subgroups γ of G such that $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)x_0$ exists in X. In this chapter, we indicate our base algebraic closed field with characteristic 0 as k for the simplicity.

2.1 Equivalence Relation on $\mathfrak{X}_*(G)$

A one-parameter subgroup of G is a homomorphism of algebraic groups $\gamma : \mathbb{G}_m \to G$, which hence corresponds to a map $\gamma^{\circ} : k[G] \to k[t, t^{-1}]$. Let $\mathfrak{X}_*(G)$ denote the set of one-parameter subgroups of G. We will denote the trivial one-parameter subgroup $t \mapsto e$ by ε . The group G acts on $\mathfrak{X}_*(G)$ by conjugation, $g \cdot \gamma : t \mapsto g\gamma(t)g^{-1}$. Each one-parameter subgroup $\gamma \in \mathfrak{X}_*(G)$ determines a subgroup

$$P(\gamma) = \left\{ g \in G : \gamma(t)g\gamma(t^{-1}) \in G_{k[[t]]} \right\}$$

of G, which is parabolic if G is reductive. In fact, every parabolic subgroup of G is of the form $P(\gamma)$ for some one-parameter subgroup γ of G. We define an equivalence relation on the set of non-trivial one-parameter subgroups of G by

$$\gamma_1 \sim \gamma_2$$
 if and only if $\gamma_2(t^{n_2}) = g\gamma_1(t^{n_1})g^{-1}$

for positive integers n_1, n_2 and an element $g \in P(\gamma_1)$, for all $t \in k^*$. Then the quotient $(\mathfrak{X}_*(G) - \{\varepsilon\})/\sim$ is isomorphic to the spherical building of G [23].

Every parabolic subgroup P of G defines a subset

$$\Delta_P(G) = \{ \gamma \in \mathfrak{X}_*(G) : P(\gamma) \supseteq P \}$$

of $\mathfrak{X}_*(G)$. Clearly $\gamma \in \Delta_{P(\gamma)}(G)$ for all $\gamma \in \mathfrak{X}_*(G)$, so $\mathfrak{X}_*(G) = \bigcup \Delta_P(G)$ where the union is over all parabolic subgroups of G. In the spherical building of G, the images of the sets $\Delta_P(G)$ are simplices and constitute a triangulation of the building [23].

The inclusion of $k[t, t^{-1}]$ in k((t)) allows us to view $\mathfrak{X}_*(G)$ as a subset of $G_{k((t))} = Hom_k(k[G], k((t)))$, the set of k((t))-points of G. Let $\langle \gamma \rangle \in G_{k((t))}$ denote the

point corresponding to the one-parameter subgroup γ . The group $G_{k((t))}$ contains the subgroup $G_{k[[t]]}$, which consists of all k((t))-points of G that have a specialization in G as $t \to 0$. The group $G_{k((t))}$ is the disjoint union of the double cosets of $G_{k[[t]]}$, as described by the Iwahori decomposition:

Theorem 2.1.1 (Cartan-Iwahori Decomposition). Let G be a reductive algebraic group over k. Every double coset of $G_{k((t))}$ with respect to the subgroup $G_{k[[t]]}$ is represented by a point of type $\langle \gamma \rangle$, for some one-parameter subgroup γ of G. That is,

$$G_{k((t))} = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \mathfrak{X}_*(G)} G_{k[[t]]} \langle \gamma \rangle G_{k[[t]]}.$$

Furthermore, each double coset is represented by a unique one-parameter subgroup.

Using this decomposition, we can replace k((t))-points of G with one-parameter subgroups. Now let's say that X is a G-variety. For each point x of X, there is a dominant morphism $\psi_x : G \to X$ which is defined by $\psi_x(g) = g \cdot x$. For a point $x_0 \in X$ and a one-parameter subgroup γ of G, we say $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)x_0$ exists in X if $\psi_{x_0} \circ \gamma : \mathbb{G}_m \to X$ extends to a morphism $\tilde{\gamma} : \mathbb{A}^1 \to X$. In this case, $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)x_0$ is defined to be $\widetilde{\gamma_{(0)}}$. That is, the composition of $\psi_{x_0}^\circ : k[X] \to k[G]$ with $\gamma^\circ : k[G] \to k[t, t^{-1}]$ factors through k[t], and the limit, $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)x_0$, is the k-point of X corresponding to the composite map $k[X] \to k[t] \to k$ sending $t \to 0$. This is described by the diagrams:



Similarly, if λ is a k((t))-point of G, then $\lim_{t\to 0} \lambda(t) x_0$ exists in X means $\lambda^{\circ}|_{k[X]} : k[X] \to k[[t]].$

The following lemma is straightforward.

Lemma 2.1.2. Suppose $\lambda \in G_{k((t))}$ and $\alpha \in G_{k[[t]]}$, so that α has specialization $\alpha_0 \in G_k$. Let X be an affine G-embedding with base point x_0 . Then $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)x_0$ exists in X if and only if $\lim_{t\to 0} [\alpha(t)\gamma(t)x_0]$ exists, in which case

$$\lim_{t \to 0} [\alpha(t)\gamma(t)x_0] = \alpha_0 \lim_{t \to 0} \gamma(t)x_0.$$

The limit of one-parameter subgroup is closely related with G-embeddings. The following theorem is one of the famous relation.

Theorem 2.1.3. [17] Let X be an affine G-variety. Suppose that Y is a closed G-stable subvariety of X and that $x_0 \in X$ is a closed point such that the closure of the orbit Gx_0 intersects Y. Then there is a one-parameter subgroup γ of G such that $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)x_0 \in Y$.

2.2 One-parameter Subgroup of Affine G-Embeddings

Given a G-variety X and a point $x_0 \in X$, define

$$\Gamma(X, x_0) := \Big\{ \gamma \in \mathfrak{X}_*(G) : \lim_{t \to 0} \gamma(t) x_0 \text{ exists in } X \Big\}.$$

We are interested in the structure of such sets of one-parameter subgroups when X is an affine G-variety and the orbit of x_0 in X is open and isomorphic to G. We call such an $x_0 \in X$ a base point. In the theory of toric varieties, this gives the cone in the lattice $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)$ which gives the one-to-one correspondence to the affine toric varieties. Therefore these sets can be used to solve the classification problem of toric varieties. For any reductive group G, we may ask same question:

Question : Can we classify affine normal G-embedding by using $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ for a reductive group G?

there is a hope that this can contribute to the classification problem of affine G-embeddings for a general reductive algebraic group G. Before we actually check

this, we state some properties which can be observed easily.

Proposition 5. [24] Let G be a connected reductive group. Suppose X is an affine G-embedding and $x_0 \in X$ a base point.

- 1. If $x'_0 = hx_0$, then $\Gamma(X, x'_0) = h\Gamma(X, x_0)h^{-1}$.
- 2. If $\gamma \in \Gamma(X, x_0)$ and $\gamma \neq \varepsilon$, then $\gamma^{-1} \notin \Gamma(X, x_0)$.
- 3. If T is any torus of G, then $\overline{Tx_0} \simeq \overline{T_\sigma}$, where $\sigma = \Gamma(X, x_0) \cap \mathfrak{X}_*(T)$ is a strongly convex rational polyhedral cone in $\mathfrak{X}_*(T)$.
- 4. If $\gamma \in \Gamma(X, x_0)$ and $p \in P(\gamma)$, then $p \bullet \gamma \in \Gamma(X, x_0)$.
- The image of Γ(X, x₀) in the spherical building is convex ([23], Definition 2.10).

From this proposition, we sometimes call $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ a cone structure of X. If this set of one-parameter subgroups can be actually used to solve the classification problem, we should be able to recover the variety X from $\Gamma(X, x'_0)$. Therefore we might need an appropriate valuation on $k(G)^*$ related with each one-parameter subgroup. Now recall that each $\gamma \in \mathfrak{X}_*(G)$ may be viewed as a k((t))-point of G. We can find a G-stable valuation v_{λ} which is associated to every $\lambda \in G_{k((t))}$ in the following way. [22] As λ is a k((t))-point of G, we obtain a dominant morphism

$$G \times \operatorname{Spec} k((t)) \xrightarrow{1 \times \lambda} G \times G \xrightarrow{\mu} G.$$

This morphism induces an injection of fields

$$i_{\lambda}: k(G) \to \operatorname{Frac}(k(G) \otimes_k k((t))) \to k(G)(t).$$

Then $v_t \circ i_{\lambda} : k(G)^* \to \mathbb{Z}$ is a valuation of k(G), where $v_t : k(G)((t))^* \to \mathbb{Z}$ is the standard valuation associated to the order of t. We define $v_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{n_{\lambda}}(v_t \circ i_{\lambda})$, where $n_{\lambda} \in \mathbb{Z}$ is the largest positive number such that $(v_t \circ i_{\lambda})(k(G)^*) \subset n_{\lambda}\mathbb{Z}$. This is

G-stable by left translations, i.e., $v_{\lambda}(s \cdot f) = v_{\lambda}(f)$ for all $s \in G$, since i_{λ} is clearly equivariant and k(G)[[t]] is obviously stable for left translations by G in k(G)((t)). Here are some properties of these valuations that are proven in [22].

Theorem 2.2.1. 1. Let γ be a one-parameter subgroup of G. For each $f \in k(G)$, there is an open subset $U \subset G$, depending only on f, such that

$$v_{\gamma}(f) = \inf_{s \in U} v_t(f(s \cdot \gamma(t))).$$

2. Let γ_1, γ_2 be one-parameter subgroups of G. Then $v_{\gamma_1} = v_{\gamma_2}$ if and only if $\gamma_1 \sim \gamma_2$.

So we have good valuations corresponding to one-parameter subgroup which are stable under the equivalence relation. To answer the question in the beginning of this section, we will now observe specific varieties when G = SL(2).

Chapter 3

Affine Normal SL(2)-Embedding

As we have mentioned in chapter 1, when U is the maximal unipotent subgroup of G, the properties of U-invariant ring of $\mathcal{O}(X)$ contains important information of G-variety X. In this chapter we first briefly review the general theory of U-invariant ring of quasihomogeneous varieties, and explain the classification and construction of affine normal SL(2)-embedding with more details. By using this, we can show that the set $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ does not contain enough information which enable us to classify all affine normal G-embeddings, unlike the case of toric varieties. In this chapter, we use some results from algebraic group theory, which can be found in many places such as [15].

3.1 U-invariant Ring of Quasihomogeneous Variety

Assume that G is a reductive linear algebraic group. Since $\mathcal{O}(G)^U$ is a finitely generated \mathbb{C} -algebra of $\mathcal{O}(G)$, there is an affine G-variety G(U) with point $\bar{e} \in G(U)$ such that the mapping $\phi : G \to G(U)$, defined by $g \mapsto g\bar{e}$, is dominant, and $\phi^*(\mathcal{O}(G(U))) = \mathcal{O}(G)^U$. The stabilizer of $\bar{e} \in G(U)$ is U, and $G(U) \setminus G_{\bar{e}}$ has codimension at least two. **Theorem 3.1.1.** [12], [14] For each G-variety Z, $\mathcal{O}(Z)^U$ is a finitely generated \mathbb{C} -algebra.

We remark several facts here [20].

- 1. $(\mathcal{O}(G)^U \otimes \mathcal{O}(Z))^G \simeq \mathcal{O}(Z)^U$.
- 2. The ring $\mathcal{O}(Z)^U$ defines an affine variety $Z(U) := (G(U) \times Z)/G$. There is a canonical dominant morphism

$$\rho: Z \to Z(U)$$

which satisfies $\rho^*(\mathcal{O}(Z(U))) = \mathcal{O}(Z)^U$. (ρ is a composition of $\psi : Z \to G(U) \times Z$ and the natural projection $\phi : G(U) \times Z \to (G(U) \times Z)/G$.

3. If Z is a G-variety and the map $\eta: Z \to Y$ is U-stable (i.e. $\eta(u \cdot z) = \eta(z)$ for each $u \in U$ and $z \in Z$), then η factors through the map ρ and $\bar{\eta}$ as follows:



If Y is a G-variety and ϕ is a G-equivariant map, then we have a commutative diagram like this:



The map $\phi(U)$ is defined as $(\mathrm{Id} \times \phi(U))/G$.

Now let V be a simple G-module. Suppose that $v \in V$ is a non-zero element and define the map

$$\mu: G \to V$$

by $g \mapsto gv$. Then the corresponding map $\mu^* : V^* \to \mathcal{O}(G)$ is *G*-equivariant, so it is uniquely determined by the restriction to the *U*-invariant subalgebra. The vector v define a unique one dimensional vector space in $\mathcal{O}(G)^U$ namely $\mathbb{C}v$. We may take the image of $\mathbb{C}v \subset V$ under *G*-equivariant embedding $V \to \mathcal{O}(G)^U$. Then we have the following lemma:

Lemma 3.1.2. $\mu^*((V^*)^U) = \mathbb{C}v \subset \mathcal{O}(G)^U$.

Now we consider U-invariant function $f \in \mathcal{O}(G)^U$ and G-module (with the right operation) W generated by f:

$$W := \langle {}^{g} f | g \in G \rangle \subset \mathcal{O}(G)^{U}.$$

If O_f is the orbit of f in W, $\overline{O_f}$ is closed and $\mu : G \to W$ is the orbit map, so we can consider a coordinate ring $\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f})$ as a subring of $\mathcal{O}(G)$ by μ^* .

Theorem 3.1.3. [20] We have $\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f}) = \mathbb{C}[g \cdot f | g \in G] \subset \mathcal{O}(G)$. In particular, $\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f})^U$ contains all components of f in the simple module of $\mathcal{O}(G)^U$.

Proof. The map $\mu^* : W^* \to \mathcal{O}(G)$ is given by $\lambda \mapsto f_\lambda$ where $f_\lambda(g) = \lambda({}^g f)$. For $h \in G$, call $\lambda_h \in W^*$ evaluation at the point h which is defined by $\lambda_h(p) = p(h)$ for $p \in W \subset \mathcal{O}(G)$. Then

$$f_{\lambda_h}(g) = \lambda_h({}^gf) = ({}^gf)(h) = f(hg) = (h^{-1}f)(g),$$

so $\mu^*(\lambda_h) = h^{-1}f$. Since W^* is generated by λ_h , $h \in G$, we have $\mu^*(W^*) = \langle g \cdot f || g \in G \rangle$, so the theorem is proved.

The following corollaries follows easily:

Corollary 3. Suppose that W is a G-module and $W = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{t} W_i$ is the decomposition into simple modules. For $w \in W$, we can express $w = \sum_{i=1}^{t} w_i$ with $w_i \in W_i$.

Each component $w_i \in W_i$ defines one-dimensional subspace $\mathbb{C}w_i \subset \mathcal{O}(G)^U$ and set $W' := \sum_{i=1}^t \mathbb{C}w_i \subset \mathcal{O}(G)^U$. Then we have

$$\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_w}) = \mathbb{C}[G \cdot W'] \subset \mathcal{O}(G).$$

Corollary 4. Suppose that $A \subset \mathcal{O}(G)^U$ is a finitely generated subalgebra such that the finitely generated G-module $B := \langle G \cdot A \rangle$ is a subalgebra of $\mathcal{O}(G)$. If $f_1, \dots, f_t \in A$ are linearly independent generators of A, we can set $W := \langle {}^g f_i | g \in$ $G, i = 1, \dots, t \rangle \subset \mathcal{O}(G)^U$ and $f := \sum_{i=1}^t f_i \in W$. Then

$$\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f})^U = A \subset \mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f}) = B.$$

Say $f \in \mathcal{O}(G)^U$ is a highest weight vector with weight $w \in \Omega_G$ in terms of the right operation, and let $V := \langle {}^g f | g \in G \rangle$ be a simple module. If O_f is the orbit of f in V, then $\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f})^U = \mathbb{C}[f] \subset \mathcal{O}(G)^U$. In particular, $\overline{O_f}$ is normal by theorem 1.3.1.

3.2 First Properties and *U*-invariant ring of $\mathcal{O}(X)$

The classification of affine embeddings has been completed only in some cases. For G = SL(2), the simplest algebraic reductive group, the results are well known and there is a specific construction for each case. This construction allows us to answer the question suggested at the end of the previous chapter. Before checking this, we need to understand affine normal SL(2)-embeddings more rigorously.

We recall that an irreducible algebraic variety X is called a quasihomogeneous variety of the algebraic group G if it has an open orbit isomorphic to G/H, for some closed subgroup. We are interested in the case when $G = SL(2), H = \{e\}$. Most of this materials can be found in [20] and [28]. When X is an SL(2)-embedding, we will call the open dense orbit O_X , and the boundary ∂X is defined as $X \setminus O_X$.

Lemma 3.2.1. X does not have any 1-dimensional orbit, and it contains at most

one fixed point.

Proof. Suppose that $SL(2) \cdot z$ is an orbit in X of dimension equal or less than 1. Then the stabilizer $SL(2)_z$ has dimension greater or equal to 2, and it contains a Borel subgroup, for a connected 2-dimensional subgroup of SL(2) is a Borel subgroup. This implies that z is a fixed point. (For any linear reductive group G, if Z is a G-variety and $z \in Z$ is a point whose stabilizer G_z contains a Borel subgroup, then z is a fixed point.) The second assertion directly follows from the following; If Z is a G-variety for a linear reductive group G, and $Gz \subset Z$ is an orbit, then \overline{Gz} contains exactly one closed orbit.

For SL(2), we have an explicit list of all 1-dimensional subgroups.

Lemma 3.2.2. Every 1-dimensional subgroup of SL(2) is conjugate to one of the following groups :

$$T = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{array} \right) \middle| t \in \mathbb{C}^* \right\}, \quad N = N_{SL(2)}(T) = T \cup \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{array} \right) \right\} T$$
$$U_n = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} \epsilon & b \\ 0 & \epsilon^{-1} \end{array} \right) \middle| \epsilon, b \in \mathbb{C}, \epsilon^n = 1 \right\}.$$

Lemma 3.2.3. A 2-dimensional orbit in X is closed if and only if the stabilizer of the orbit is conjugate to T or N.

Proof. One direction is clear. If the stabilizer contains maximal torus, its orbit is closed. The converse follows from Hilbert's criterion [20]: The closed orbit in X contains the image of a one parameter subgroup, which is a one-dimensional torus.

We call G-embedding X a trivial embedding if X is isomorphic to G.

For any affine G-embedding X, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 6 ([27]). If X is not a trivial embedding, then the boundary ∂X is a subvariety of pure codimension 1 in X.

Therefore when G = SL(2), we have

Lemma 3.2.4. If X is not a trivial embedding, $dim(X \setminus O_X) = 2$.

From this result, we have two possibilities for an affine SL(2)-embedding X beside the trivial embedding.

Theorem 3.2.5. If X is not a trivial embedding, X is one of the following types.

Type 1 $X = O_X \cup O_0$, where $O_0 \simeq SL(2)/T$ or SL(2)/N.

Type 2 $X = O_X \cup \bigcup_{i=1} O_i \cup p$, where p is the fixed point and O_i is a 2-dimensional orbit isomorphic to U_m with some m.

(We will see later that if X is of type 2, the number of 2-dimensional orbits is always equal to 1.)

From this observation when the variety X is normal, we can decide the singularities of X:

Theorem 3.2.6. Suppose that X is a normal SL(2)-embedding.

- 1. If X is a Type 1 variety, then X is smooth.
- 2. If X is a Type 2 variety, then X is singular only possibly at its fixed point.

As a matter of fact, the fixed point p is a singular point.

Lemma 3.2.7. If X is a type 2 variety and p is a fixed point, then $O_{E,p}$ is not a factorial ring, and p is a singular point.

Proof. We can choose a point e in the dense orbit such that $\lim_{t\to 0} \lambda(t)e = p$ where $\lambda(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2)$. Consider the two hyperplanes $D := \overline{Be}$ and $D_0 := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D$, where B is the group of upper triangular matrices in SL(2). Then obviously $p \in D \cap D_0$. If there is another point $q \in D \cap D_0$, then $\lim_{t\to 0} \lambda(t)q = p$

and $\lim_{t\to 0} \lambda^{-1}(t)q = p$ because $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \lambda = \lambda^{-1}$. Therefore, the stabilizer of q contains the image of $\lambda(t)$, whence q = p. This shows that $D \cap D_0 = \{p\}$. Now assume that D and D_0 are defined by prime ideals \mathfrak{p} and \mathfrak{p}_0 in $O_{E,p}$, respectively. If $O_{E,p}$ is factorial, each prime ideal is a principal ideal so we can find f and f_0 in $O_{E,p}$ such that $\mathfrak{p} = (f)$ and $\mathfrak{p}_0 = (f_0)$. Then $D \cap D_0$ is defined by two equation $f = f_0 = 0$, hence $\operatorname{codim}_X D \cap D_0 \leq 2$, which is a contradiction. Therefore, $O_{E,p}$ is not factorial, and p is a singular point.

Now let's fix one non-trivial SL(2)-embedding X with the general point x_0 in the dense orbit O_X , such that $\lim_{t\to 0} \lambda(t)x_0$ exist when $\lambda(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2)$. (It is not hard to see that we can always find such x_0 for non-trivial embedding.) Observe that

$$\mathcal{O}(SL(2)) = \mathbb{C}[x, y, z, w]/(xw - yz - 1),$$

where the maps $x, y, z, w : SL(2) \to \mathbb{C}$ are defined by

$$x\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = a, \qquad y\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = b,$$
$$z\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = c, \qquad w\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = d.$$

Theorem 3.2.8 ([20]). If X is a normal variety, then the map $x \in \mathcal{O}(SL(2))$ can be extended to the whole X, and its value at the boundary ∂X is zero.

Proof. Consider the SL(2)-variety $X \times \mathbb{C}^2$ with the natural representation of SL(2)on \mathbb{C}^2 . Say $x' = (x_0, (1, 0))$ and $X' =: \overline{O_{x'}} \subset X \times \mathbb{C}^2$ which is the closure of the orbit of x'.



X' is an SL(2)-embedding with dense orbit $O' = O_{x'}$, and we have

$$\mathcal{O}(X) \subset \mathcal{O}(X') \subset \mathcal{O}(SL(2)),$$

where the two inclusions are induced by ϕ and the map $SL(2) \to X'$ is given by $g \mapsto gx'$.

To prove the theorem, now it is sufficient to show:

- 1. $x \in \mathcal{O}(X')$ extends to the zero function on the boundary of X'.
- 2. ϕ is an isomorphism.

An extension of $x, \ \tilde{x} \in \mathcal{O}(X')$, is given by $\tilde{x}(z, (x, y)) := x$. So to show \tilde{x} extends to the zero function on the boundary, it is enough to show that $\psi^{-1}(0,0)$ contains all 2-dimensional orbits of X'. The map $\psi : X' \to \mathbb{C}^2$ is equivariant under the SL(2) action, and the fibers over $\mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}$ are all isomorphic, so each component of fiber $F := \psi^{-1}((1,0))$ is one-dimensional. The stabilizer of (1,0) is $U_1 = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & c \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| c \in \mathbb{C} \right\} \subset SL(2)$, so F is U_1 -stable. Then $F \cap O' = U_1 \cdot x'$ is closed in X' (When U is a unipotent group and Z is U-invariant, each orbit in Z is closed), and an component of F. Suppose that there is another component C of F. Other component C of F is also U_1 stable, so it doesn't intersect U_1x' . Since $\psi(SL(2) \cdot C) = \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\}$, we have dim $(SL(2) \cdot C) = 3$, which contradicts to $SL(2) \cdot C \subset X' \setminus O'$. It follows that $\psi^{-1}(\mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\}) = O'$, and it proves the first assertion.

For the second claim, we note first that the dense orbits of X and X' are isomorphic, so especially ϕ is a birational morphism. By Richardson Lemma ([20], II. 3.4), it is enough to show that ϕ is surjective. If X is of type 1, then $f := \lim_{t \to 0} \lambda(t)x$ is a point of 2-dimensional orbit, and f maps to $f' := \lim_{t \to 0} \lambda(t)x' = (f, 0) \in X'$ under ϕ , so $O_f = \phi(O_{f'})$. If X is of type 2, it is enough to show that the image of ϕ contains \overline{Bx} because ϕ is SL(2)-equivariant and \overline{Bx} intersects with each orbit in X. If $y \in \overline{Bx}$, then we can easily find a sequence of matrices such that $g_n = \begin{pmatrix} a_n & b_n \\ 0 & a_n^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2)$ with $\lim_{n \to \infty} g_n x = y$ and $\lim_{n \to \infty} a_n = a \in \mathbb{C}$. From this, we have $\lim_{n \to \infty} g_n x' = (y, (a, 0)) \in X'$, hence $y \in \phi(X')$.

Define a subgroup U, which is an unipotent subgroup of SL(2):

$$U := U_1^- = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{c} 1 & 0 \\ c & 1 \end{array} \right) \middle| c \in \mathbb{C} \right\} \subset SL(2).$$

Then we have $\mathcal{O}(SL(2))^U = \mathbb{C}[x, y]$ and $\mathcal{O}(X)^U \subset \mathcal{O}(SL(2))^U = \mathbb{C}[x, y]$, and we already observed $x \in \mathcal{O}(X)^U$ when X is normal.

Lemma 3.2.9. If $A \subset \mathbb{C}[x, y]$ is a normal homogeneous subalgebra with $x \in A$ and $quot(A) = \mathbb{C}(x, y)$, then A is generated by monomials.

Proof. We first show that for all s, A contains a monomial $x^r y^s$ for some r. Suppose that $P = x^a y^b + \sum_{i>0} a_i x^{a+i} y^{b-i}$ is a homogeneous element of A with $a_i \in \mathbb{C}, b > 0$. If $k \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfies $kb \ge a$, then we have

$$x^{bk-a}P = (x^k y)^b + \sum_{i>0} a_i x^{(k+1)i} (x^k y)^{b-i} \in A,$$

so $x^k y \in A$ because A is normal. We will now show that $x^a y^b \in A$, and then the claim follows by induction. If $x^a y^b \notin A$ then say that n is a maximal with $x^{n+a} y^b \notin A$. Then for all $0 \leq i \leq b$,

$$(x^{n+a+i}y^{b-i})^b = x^d (x^{n+a+1}y^b)^{b-i},$$

where d = b(n + a + i) - (b - i)(n + a + 1) = b(i - 1) + i(n + a + 1). Therefore, $x^{n+a+i}y^{b-i} \in A$ for i > 0. Because $x^n P = x^{n+a}y^b + \sum_{i>0} a_i x^{n+a+i}y^{b-i} \in A$, we have a contradiction.

Theorem 3.2.10. If X is a normal SL(2)-embedding, there is a positive rational number h such that

$$\mathcal{O}(X)^U = A_h := \left\{ k x^i y^j \mid k \in \mathbb{C}, \frac{j}{i} \le h \right\}.$$

We call this h height of X.

Proof. Suppose that $x^{i_1}y^{j_1}, \dots, x^{i_s}y^{j_s}$ are monomials which generate $\mathcal{O}(X)^U$. Take $h = \max_s \frac{j_s}{i_s}$. If $x^a y^b \in \mathcal{O}(E)^U$, then $x^i y^j \in \mathcal{O}(E)^U$ for $\frac{j}{i} \leq \frac{b}{a}$ because $(x^i y^j)^b = x^{bi-aj}(x^a y^b)^j$, so the assertion is proved.

Also, we can show that

Theorem 3.2.11. The height h is invariant under isomorphism.

3.3 Classification of Affine Normal SL(2)-Embedding.

For a G-variety X, we can define an action of G on $\mathcal{O}(X)$ as following :

$$(g \cdot f)(x) := f(g^{-1}x)$$

Now if A is any set in \mathbb{C} -algebra with G-action, define $\langle G \cdot A \rangle$ as the \mathbb{C} module generated by $g \cdot a$ for all $g \in G$ and $a \in A$. It is not hard to see that $\mathcal{O}(X) = \langle SL(2) \cdot \mathcal{O}(X)^U \rangle$. Conversely, if a finitely generated subalgebra $A \subset \mathbb{C}[x, y]$ satisfies that the submodule $R := \langle SL(2) \cdot A \rangle$ is a subalgebra (of $\mathcal{O}(SL(2))$), then $R^U = A$ and R is finitely generated, and we can find SL(2)-embedding Y such that $\mathcal{O}(Y) = R$. It is therefore important to decide for which h, submodule $\langle SL(2) \cdot A \rangle$ is subalgebra of $\mathcal{O}(SL(2))$. **Lemma 3.3.1.** In $\mathcal{O}(SL(2))$, we have

$$(\langle SL(2) \cdot x^a y^b \rangle \cdot \langle SL(2) \cdot x^r y^s \rangle)^U \subset \bigoplus_{i \ge 0} \mathbb{C} x^{a+r-i} y^{b+s-i}$$

Theorem 3.3.2. Suppose that X is non trivial SL(2)-embedding. Then $h(X) \leq 1$. Also for every $h \leq 1$, there is a normal SL(2)-embedding X with h(X) = h.

Proof. 1) Suppose that $f := x^i y^j \in \mathcal{O}(X)^U$. We have to show that $i \ge j$. Consider the right action of f on the simple module $V := \mathbb{C}[x, y]_{i+j}$. The map

$$\mu: SL(2) \longrightarrow V, \quad g \mapsto {}^g f$$

induces a map $\mu^* : \mathcal{O}(V) \to \mathcal{O}(SL(2))$, and together with 3.1.3, we have the following : The image of μ is the orbit O_f of f in V and

$$\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f}) = \mathbb{C}[g \cdot f | g \in SL(2)] \subset \mathcal{O}(SL(2)).$$

This map μ factors via X as



with $\overline{\mu}(e) = f$. Since the limit $\lim_{t \to 0} \lambda(t)e$ exists, $\lim_{t \to 0} \lambda(t)f$ exists. The action of $\lambda(t)$ on f gives us $\lambda(t)f = t^{i-j}x^iy^j$, so we have $i \ge j$.

2) It is enough to show that for given h, $\langle SL(2) \cdot A_h \rangle$ is a subalgebra of $\mathcal{O}(SL(2))$. Suppose $x^a y^b, x^r y^s$ are two monomials in A_h , then $\frac{b}{a}, \frac{s}{r} \leq 1$, so we have $\frac{b+s-i}{a+r-i} \leq h$ for all $i \geq 0$. By the previous lemma, we have $(\langle SL(2) \cdot x^a y^b \rangle \cdot \langle SL(2) \cdot x^r y^s \rangle)^U \subset A_h$, so $(\langle SL(2) \cdot x^a y^b \rangle \cdot \langle SL(2) \cdot x^r y^s \rangle)^U \subset \langle SL(2) \cdot A_h \rangle$. Since A_h is generated by monomials, this proves the first statement. The normal embedding X with coordinate ring $\mathcal{O}(X) = \langle SL(2) \cdot A_h \rangle$ has A_h as a U-invariant ring, therefore its height is h.

Now we can find a structure of SL(2)-embedding like the following:

Theorem 3.3.3 ([20]). Suppose X is a nontrivial affine normal SL(2)-embedding with an open orbit $O_X \subset X$ isomorphic to SL(2).

- 1. $X \setminus O_X$ is irreducible and normal. Especially X contains exactly one two dimensional orbit.
- 2. h = 1 corresponds to a (unique) smooth SL(2)-embedding with two orbits : $X = SL(2) \cup SL(2)/T.$
- 3. If $h = \frac{q}{p}$ and (p,q) = 1, then $X = SL(2) \cup SL(2)/U_{p+q} \cup \{pt\}$, and $\{pt\}$ is an isolated singular point in X.

Proof. Let $h = \frac{q}{p}$ (with (p,q) = 1), and $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathcal{O}(X)$ be the ideal of the closed set $X \setminus O_X$. The exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathfrak{a} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(X \setminus O_X) \longrightarrow 0$$

is SL(2)-equivariant and hence $\mathcal{O}(X \setminus O_X)^U = \mathcal{O}(X)^U / \mathfrak{a}^U = A_h / \mathfrak{a}^U$, where $A_h = \{\mathbb{C}x^i y^j \mid \frac{j}{i} \leq h\}$. By Theorem 3.2.8, we have $x \in \mathfrak{a}$, and $\sqrt{(x \cdot A_h)} \subset \mathfrak{a}^U$. Therefore,

$$\sqrt{(x \cdot A_h)} = \left\{ \mathbb{C}x^i y^j \mid \frac{j}{i} < h \right\},$$

and $\overline{A_h} := A_h/(\sqrt{(x \cdot A_h)})$ is a polynomial ring with one variable $t := x^q y^p + \sqrt{(x \cdot A_h)}$. If $\mathfrak{a}^U \neq \sqrt{(x \cdot A_h)}$, then $\mathcal{O}(X \setminus O_X)^U = A_h/\mathfrak{a}^U$ is a quotient ring of $\overline{A_h}$, which is a \mathbb{C} -algebra. Then this contradicts the fact that $\dim(X \setminus O_X) = 2$, hence

$$\mathcal{O}(X \setminus O_X)^U = A_h / (\sqrt{(x \cdot A_h)}) = \mathbb{C}[t]$$

with $t := x^q y^p + \sqrt{(x \cdot A_h)}$. Especially, $X \setminus O_X$ is irreducible and normal by Theorem 1.3.1.

Now, suppose that h = 1. Then $xy \in \mathcal{O}(X)^U = A_1$ and the inclusion $\mathbb{C}[xy] \subset \mathbb{C}[x, y]$ induces an isomorphism $\mathbb{C}[xy] \to \overline{A_1}$. The subalgebra $\mathbb{C}[xy]$ is T-invariant under the right operation. So if we define

$$B := \langle SL(2) \cdot \mathbb{C}[x, y] \rangle = \mathcal{O}(SL(2))^T = \mathcal{O}(SL(2)/T),$$

then the exact sequence

$$B \xrightarrow{i} \mathcal{O}(X) \xrightarrow{p} \mathcal{O}(X \setminus O_X)$$

is SL(2)-equivariant isomorphisms. Therefore, $X \setminus O$ is an orbit isomorphic to SL(2)/T under the morphism $\rho: X \to X \setminus O_X$ defined by $\rho^* = i \circ (p \circ i)^{-1}$ and restriction. This gives us the first type of embedding.

Now assume that h < 1. Say $\mathfrak{n} := A_h \cap (x, y)$ is the homogeneous maximal ideal in A_h . Then by lemma 3.3.1, $\mathfrak{m} := \langle SL(2) \cdot \mathfrak{n} \rangle \subset \mathcal{O}(X)$ is a maximal ideal defines a fixed point $e \in X$, so X has a fixed point. Now we have

$$X \setminus O_X = O' \cup \{e\},\$$

and O' is isomorphic to $SL(2)/U_n$. Since $\overline{O'}$ is normal and the fixed point has codimension 2, we have

$$\mathcal{O}(\overline{O'}) = \mathcal{O}(X \setminus O_X) = \mathcal{O}(SL(2))^{U_n} \simeq \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\infty} R_{ni}.$$

 $(R_m \text{ is the set of homogeneous polynomials of degree } m \text{ in } \mathbb{C}[x, y] \text{ with } G$ action, which is defined as follows; for $g \in G$ and $f \in R_m$, g acts on $f \in R_m$ as ${}^gf(v) := f(vg)$ when v = (x, y). We can easily show that R_m is isomorphic to the homogeneous polynomials of degree m with the usual G action $g \cdot f(v) = f(g^{-1}v)$ via group automorphism $g \mapsto (g^t)^{-1}$.) *U*-invariant ring of $X \setminus O_X$ is given by $A_h/(\sqrt{(x \cdot A_h)}) = \mathbb{C}[t]$ with $t := x^q y^p + \sqrt{(x \cdot A_h)}$. The weights are occurring on the multiple of p + q, so n = p + q.

To get a more geometrical aspect of X, we are going to determine the tangent spaces at the fixed point.

Lemma 3.3.4. Suppose that h(X) < 1. If \mathfrak{n} is the homogeneous maximal ideal of A_h , define $\mathfrak{m} := \langle SL(2) \cdot \mathfrak{n} \rangle$. Then $(\mathfrak{m}^2)^U = \mathfrak{n}^2$.

Theorem 3.3.5. Let $M_h := \{(r, s) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z} | x^r y^s \in A_h\}$ be a monoid of lattice. If $\{(r_i, s_i)\}_{i=1}^t$ is a minimal generator of M_h , then the tangent space at the fixed point e_0 has the following SL(2)-module decomposition

$$T_{e_0}(X) \simeq \oplus_{i=1}^t R_{r_i + s_i}.$$

In conclusion, if $h = \frac{p}{q} < 1$, then $T_{e_0}(X)$ contains the representation $R_1 \oplus R_{p+q}$. In particular, dim $T_{e_0}(X) \ge 6$, so x_0 is a singular point. Also, if $f \in R_n$ has a trivial stabilizer and $0 \in \overline{O_f}$, then $\overline{O_f}$ is not normal.

3.4 Construction of Normal Affine SL(2)-embedding

From the contents of section 3.1, we can easily have the following theorem:

Theorem 3.4.1. For $h \leq 1$, let $\{(r_i, s_i)\}_{i=1}^N$ is a minimal generating sets of semigroup M_h . Define

$$f := (x^{r_1}y^{s_1}, \cdots, x^{r_t}y^{s_t}) \in R_{r_1+s_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus R_{r_t+s_t}$$

Then $\overline{O_f}$ is a normal SL(2)-embedding with $h(\overline{O_f}) = h$.

If $f \in R_{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus R_{n_t}$ has a trivial stabilizer and $\overline{O_f}$ contains $0 \in R_{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus R_{n_t}$, then $\overline{O_f}$ defines an SL(2)-embedding. We want to check that when this is normal,

and as a result, we have that the varieties in the above theorem are all normal varieties.

Definition 3.4.2. For $f = f_{n_1} + \cdots + f_{n_t} \in R_{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus R_{n_t}$, we can find a_i, r_i, s_i such that

$$f_i = a_i x^{r_i} y^{s_i} + \sum_{j>0} a_{ij} x^{r_i+j} y^{s_i-j}$$
 where $n_i = r_i + s_i$ and $a_i \neq 0$.

Then define the height of f by $h(f) := \max_{i=1}^{t} \frac{s_i}{r_i}$.

- **Theorem 3.4.3** ([20]). 1. If $f \in \bigoplus_{i=1}^{i=t} R_i$ has trivial stabilizer and $0 \in \overline{O_f}$, then $\overline{O_f}$ is an affine SL(2)-embedding with $h(\overline{O_f}) = h(f)$.
 - 2. $\overline{O_f}$ is normal if and only if the monomials composing f generate $A_{h(f)}$ as a SL(2)-module.

Proof. 1) Recall that the action of G on R_n is given by $g_f := (g^T)^{-1} f$. It does not change the orbit, and we can identify R_n with $\mathbb{C}[x, y]_n$. Now we can assume that f satisfies $\lim_{t\to 0} \lambda(t)f = 0$ and each component f_i has the form of $f_i = a_i x^{r_i} y^{s_i} + \sum_{i>0} a_{ij} x^{r_i+j} y^{s_i-j}$. Then we have

$$\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f}) = \mathbb{C}[g \cdots f_i | g \in SL(2), i = 1, \cdots, t] \subset \mathcal{O}(SL(2)).$$

Say $\eta: X \to \overline{O_f}$ is the normalization of $\overline{O_f}$ and $\tilde{f} \in X$ is a lift of f. Then η is finite and closed, so $\lim_{t\to 0} \lambda(t)\tilde{f} := x_0$ exist in X, and x_0 is a fixed point. Therefore, $\mathcal{O}(X)^U = A_{h_0} \subset \mathbb{C}[x, y]$ for suitable h_0 . According to the definition, h(f) is the smallest h with $f_i \in A_h$ for all i. Since $f_i \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f})^U \subset \mathcal{O}(E)^U$, $h_0 \ge h(f)$. Conversely, $\langle SL(2) \cdot A_{h(f)} \rangle$ is normal and contains $\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f})$, so $\mathcal{O}(E) \subset \langle SL(2) \cdot A_{h(f)} \rangle$, hence $h_0 \le h(f)$. This completes the proof of the first statement.

2) Say $\mathfrak{n} \subset A_{h(f)}$ is the homogeneous maximal ideal. We assume that the component f_i has the form $f_i = a_i x^{r_i} y^{s_i} + \sum_{j>0} a_{ij} x^{r_i+j} y^{s_i-j}$. The monomials $\{x^{r_i} y^{s_i} | i = 1, \dots, t\}$ generate $M_{h(f)}$, so the residue classes $f_i + \mathfrak{n}^2 = x^{r_i} y^{s_i} + \mathfrak{n}^2$ generate the vector space $\mathfrak{n}/\mathfrak{n}^2$, and we have $A_{h(f)} = \mathbb{C}[f_1, \dots, f_t]$. Hence $\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f})^U = A_{h(f)}$ so $\overline{O_f}$ is normal. Conversely, suppose that $B \subsetneq A_h$ is a proper subalgebra and $A := \gamma[SL(2) \cdot B]$ is SL(2)-stable subalgebra of SL(2) generated by B, and $A^U \subsetneq A_h$. (This follows from the proof of Lemma 3.3.1 and Lemma 3.3.4.) So if the monomials composing f doesn't generate the monoid $M_{h(f)}$, then $\mathbb{C}[f_1, \dots, f_t]$ is a proper subalgebra of $A_{h(f)}$ and so $\mathcal{O}(\overline{O_f})^U = \mathbb{C}[SL(2) \cdot f_i | i = 1, \dots, t]^U$. Therefore, $\overline{O_f}$ is not normal.

3.5 Affine Normal SL(2)-Embedding and $\Gamma(X, x_0)$

In this section, we will compute $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ for all affine normal SL(2)-embeddings by using the classification of SL(2)-embeddings. This will give us a negative answer to the question in the section 3.2.

3.5.1 Structures of $\Gamma(X, x_0)$

First we compute $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ for the case when h = 1. The group SL(2) acts tautologically on space \mathbb{C}^2 and by conjugation on space $Mat(2 \times 2)$. Consider the point

$$x_0 = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 0 \end{array} \right) \right\} \in \operatorname{Mat}(2 \times 2) \times \mathbb{C}^2$$

and its orbit

$$SL(2)x_0 = \{(A, v) \mid \det A = -1, \operatorname{tr} A = 0, Av = v, v \neq 0\}.$$

It is easy to see that the closure

$$X = \overline{SL(2)x_0} = \{ (A, v) \mid \det A = -1, \operatorname{tr} A = 0, Av = v \}$$

is a smooth SL(2)-embedding with two orbits, and $X \setminus O_X = \{(A, 0) \mid \det A = -1\} \simeq SL(2)/T$.

We can calculate $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ by direct computation.

Note that every one parameter subgroup of SL(2) has the form $g\begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix} g^{-1}$ for some $g \in SL(2)$. Considering an equivalence relation on one-parameter subgroups, we have:

Lemma 3.5.1. The set $(\mathfrak{X}_*(SL(2)) - {\epsilon}) / \sim can be described as follows:$

$$\left\{ g \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix} g^{-1} \middle| g = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha & 1 \end{pmatrix} (\alpha \in \mathbb{C}) \text{ or } g = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$

Proof. Define the right hand side set as W. To show the claim, we need to prove 1) any non-trivial $\gamma(t) \in \mathfrak{X}_*(SL(2))$ is equivalent to one of the elements in W, and 2) any two elements in W are not equivalent. For $\lambda_0(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$ and $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$, we can compute $\lambda_0(t)g\lambda_0(t^{-1}) = \begin{pmatrix} a & bt^2 \\ ct^{-2} & d \end{pmatrix}$. Therefore this element is in $G_{k[[t]]}$ if and only if c = 0, so $P(\lambda_0(t)) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2) \middle| a, b, d \in \mathbb{C} \right\}$. For any $\gamma(t) = g\lambda_0(t^n)g^{-1} \in \mathfrak{X}_*(SL(2))$ with $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$ and non-negative integer, we have

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}a&b\\c&d\end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{cc}1&0\\\frac{c}{a}&1\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc}a&b\\0&d-\frac{bc}{a}\end{array}\right)$$

if a is nonzero, and

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}a&b\\c&d\end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{cc}0&1\\1&0\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc}c&d\\0&b\end{array}\right)$$

if a is zero.

Also it is not hard to see that for any $h \in G$ and $\gamma(t) \in \mathfrak{X}_*(G)$, $P(h \cdot \gamma) =$

 $hP(\gamma)h^{-1}$, and $\lambda_1(t) \sim \lambda_2(t)$ if and only if $h \cdot \lambda_1(t) \sim h \cdot \lambda_2(t)$. Hence, if a is nonzero,

$$\begin{split} \gamma(t) &= g \cdot \lambda_0(t^n) \sim g \cdot \lambda_0(t) \sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{c}{a} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & d - \frac{bc}{a} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_0(t) \\ &\sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{c}{a} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & d - \frac{bc}{a} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_0(t) \end{pmatrix} \sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{c}{a} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_0(t), \end{split}$$

and if a is zero,

$$\gamma(t) = g \cdot \lambda_0(t) \sim \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c & d \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_0(t)$$
$$\sim \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c & d \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_0(t) \end{pmatrix} \sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{c}{a} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_0(t).$$

Therefore, the first assertion is proved.

Now assume that g_1, g_2 are two different element in W and $g_1 \cdot \lambda_0(t) \sim g_2 \cdot \lambda_0(t)$. Then $l_0(t) \sim g_1^{-1}g_2 l_0(t)$ which implies that $g_1^{-1}g_2$ is an upper triangular matrix. It is not hard to see that this only happens when $g_1 = g_2$, so the second assertion is proved.

Therefore it is enough to check limits when an one-parameter subgroup is one of the followings:

$$\gamma(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ \alpha(t-t^{-1}) & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \text{ or } \gamma(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & t \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now go back to the affine variety X when h = 1. For $\gamma(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ \alpha(t - t^{-1}) & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$,

we can compute

$$\gamma(t)x_0 = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 2\alpha(1-t^{-2}) & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} t \\ \alpha(t-t^{-1}) \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$

It has a limit in X if and only if $\alpha = 0$.

For
$$\gamma(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & t \end{pmatrix}$$
, we can compute

$$\gamma(t)x_0 = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} t^{-1} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$

and the limit doesn't exist regardless of α .

Therefore, the cone structure of X can be described as follows: If
$$T_0 := \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix} & | t \in \mathbb{C}^* \end{cases}$$
,

$$T \qquad gTg^{-1} \text{ where } g = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
Remark 1. When $g = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, $g \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix} g^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} t^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & t \end{pmatrix}$, so it can be described together in the first picture. Also, we can show that $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha & 1 \end{pmatrix}$.

$$\begin{pmatrix} t^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & t \end{pmatrix} \sim \begin{pmatrix} t^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & t \end{pmatrix}$$
, so negative part of $\Gamma(X, x_0) \cap \mathfrak{X}_*(T)$ for each maximal torus T should be all same when $G = SL(2)$.

For varieties with $h = \frac{p}{q} < 1$, the descriptions are similar with the above. First, consider $A_h = \{\mathbb{C}x^iy^j \mid \frac{j}{i} \leq h\}$, and define M_h as $\{(i, j) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 | x^iy^j \in A_h\}$. Take the generators of the semigroup M_h :

$$\langle (1,0), (r_1,s_1), \cdots, (r_n,s_n), (p,q) \rangle$$

Consider this as a point x_0 in $V_1 \oplus V_{r_1+s_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus V_{r_n+s_n} \oplus V_{p+q}$, where V_k is the SL(2) module composed of degree k homogeneous polynomials. (Action of $A = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2)$ on x is ax + cy, and on y is bx + dy.) Then the affine normal SL(2)-embedding corresponding to h is

$$\overline{SL(2)x_0}$$

Now let's compute the cone structure of it.

For
$$\gamma(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ \alpha(t-t^{-1}) & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
, its action on x is $\gamma(t)x = tx + \alpha(t-t^{-1})y$, so

in order to have a limit, α should be 0. If $\alpha = 0$, $\gamma(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$ and $\gamma(t)(x^i y^j) = t^{i-j} x^i y^j$. Since for any $x^i y^j$ we have i > j, the limit is zero point in $V_1 \oplus V_{r_1+s_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus V_{r_n+s_n} \oplus V_{p+q}$ which is obviously inside the closure.

For
$$\gamma(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & t \end{pmatrix}$$
, $\gamma(t)x = t^{-1}x$, so the limit doesn't exist.

Hence, the cone structure of X for any h < 1 is the same with the case of h = 1, and can be described as following :



In conclusion, we can have the following theorem.

Theorem 3.5.2. For any affine normal SL(2)-embedding, the cone structure $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ is unique.

The solution to classification problems using $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ should include how to reconstruct X from this set. More precisely, as in [24], one can ask that following claim is true:

Let G be a connected reductive group. If X is an affine G- embedding with base point x_0 , then $X \simeq \operatorname{Spec} A_{\Gamma(X,x_0)}$, where $A_{\Gamma(X,x_0)} := \{f \in k[G] : v_{\gamma}(f) \ge 0 \text{ for all } \gamma \in \Gamma(X,x_0)\}.$

Unfortunately, this does not hold in general. As we can see in the above cone structure construction of affine normal SL(2)-embedding, the varieties which are not isomorphic give us the same cone structure $\Gamma(X, x_0)$, and the same $A_{\Gamma(X, x_0)}$. So it is obvious that $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ doesn't give us enough information to solve classification of *G*-embedding completely.

Now to check the claim more precisely, we will verify that for the unique cone structure $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ of affine normal SL(2) – embedding, Spec $A_{\Gamma(X,x_0)}$ is isomorphic to the unique smooth affine SL(2) – embedding as following.

Note that any $\gamma \in \Gamma(X, x_0)$ is equivalent to $\lambda(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$ except the trivial one-parameter subgroup ϵ . For this λ , if $A = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2)$,

$$A\lambda(t) = \left(egin{array}{cc} at & bt^{-1} \\ ct & dt^{-1} \end{array}
ight).$$

Therefore, we can easily find all functions in k[SL(2)] = k[x, y, z, w]/(xz - yw - 1)whose t-valuation is non-negative are generated (as an algebra) by the monomials x, z, xy, xw, yz, zw. That is,

$$A_{\Gamma(X,x_0)} = k[x, z, xy, xw, yz, zw]/(xy - zw - 1) \subset k(SL(2)).$$

Recall that the unique smooth affine SL(2)-embedding can be described as

$$X = \overline{SL(2)x} = \{ (A, v) \mid \det A = -1, \operatorname{tr} A = 0, Av = v \}.$$

If we take the coordinate system as $A = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$ and $v = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ z \end{pmatrix}$, we can find the ring of regular function as $\mathcal{O}(X) = k[a, b, c, d, x, z]/(ad - bc + 1, a + d, ax + bz - x, cx + dz - z).$

Then, we can find the following transformations :

3.5.2 Some applications using $\Gamma(X, x_o)$

Even though $\Gamma(X, x_o)$ doesn't give us the solution to the classification, still it contains useful information of the *G*-embedding *X*. Suppose $f: X \to Y$ is a *G*equivariant morphism between affine *G*-embeddings *X* and *Y*. If $x_0 \in X$ is a base point for *X*, then $y_0 = f(x_0)$ is a base point for *Y*. Moreover, if γ is a one-parameter subgroup of *G* such that $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)x_0 = x_{\gamma}$ exists in *X*, then $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)y_0$ exists in *Y* and is equal to $f(x_{\gamma})$ since *f* is continuous and $f(\gamma(t)x_0) = \gamma(t)f(x_0) = \gamma(t)y_0$ for all $t \neq 0$. Therefore, there is an inclusion $\Gamma(X, x_0) \subset \Gamma(Y, f(x_0))$ whenever there exists an equivariant morphism $f: X \to Y$ of affine *G*-embeddings.

Another interesting properties can be found when X not only has a left G-action, but also right G-action too, which is compatible with the left action. We call X *biequivariant* G-variety in this case.

Proposition 7 ([24]). If an affine G-embedding X have both a left and a right G-action, then the associated strongly convex lattice cone $\Gamma(X, x_0)$, for any choice of base point $x_0 \in X$, is G-stable for the conjugation action of G on $(X)_*(G)$.

Proof. Suppose that X is a $(G \times G)$ -equivariant affine G-embedding and let $x \in X$ be a base point. We want to show that $\Gamma(X, h \cdot x) = \Gamma(X, x)$ for any $h \in G$. Let $h \in G$ and assume that $\gamma \in \Gamma(X, x)$, so $\lim_{t \to 0} \gamma(t)x$ exists in X. Then we can check $\lim_{t \to 0} [\gamma(t) \cdot hx] = \lim_{t \to 0} [\gamma(t) \cdot xh'] = \lim_{t \to 0} [\gamma(t) \cdot x] \cdot h'$, for some $h' \in G$, and this limit exists in X. Recall that $h\Gamma(X, x)h^{-1} = \Gamma(X, h \cdot x)$. Thus $\Gamma(X, x) \subset h\Gamma(X, x)h^{-1}$. Now assume that $\gamma' \in \Gamma(X, h \cdot x)$. Then, the same argument implies $\gamma' \in \Gamma(X, x)$. Therefore, for every $h \in G$, $\Gamma(X, x) = h\Gamma(X, x)h^{-1}$. Thus $\Gamma(X, x)$ is G-stable for the conjugation action of G on $\mathfrak{X}_*(G)$ for any choice of base point $x \in X$.

Suppose that X is a normal affine SL(2)-embedding. If X is a biequivariant G-embedding and x_0 is a base point, $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ is G-stable, so $\Gamma(X, x_0) \cap \mathfrak{X}_*(T)$ is equal to $\Gamma(X, x_0) \cap \mathfrak{X}_*(gTg^{-1})$ as a cone. By the structure of $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ we've already observed, we have the following.

Corollary 5. There is no biequivariant normal affine SL(2)-embedding except the trivial embedding.

Chapter 4

Some examples of Affine Normal GL(2)-embedding

The classification of affine normal G-embedding has not been solved except some special cases. We don't even know complete classifications when G is GL(2) or SL(3). To understand more possible relations between the cone structures $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ and G-embedding, we need to observe what happens in specific cases, but the lack of examples make things a bit difficult. So it is worthwhile to construct some family of affine GL(2)-embeddings and its cone structures.

When G = GL(2), the situation is more complicated as we might guess. The dimension of orbits now can be 2 or 3, and there are too many kinds of algebraic subgroups of GL(2). Also, the maximal torus has dimension 2, so some of useful facts in SL(2) case do not hold anymore.

We can easily observe that every maximal torus is conjugate to

$$T_0 = \left\{ \left. \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{array} \right) \right| a, d \in \mathbb{C}^* \right\},\$$

every maximal unipotent subgroup is conjugate to

$$U_0 = \left\{ \left. \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 & 0 \\ b & 1 \end{array} \right) \right| b \in \mathbb{C} \right\},\$$

and evry Borel subgroup is conjugate to

$$B_0 = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ 0 & d \end{array} \right) \middle| a, d \in \mathbb{C}^*, b \in \mathbb{C} \right\}.$$

Now let X be an affine normal GL(2)-embedding. As for the case of SL(2), we can fix one maximal unipotent subgroup U as above. Then from

$$\mathcal{O}(GL(2)) = \mathbb{C}[x, y, z, w]_{(xw-yz)} \simeq \mathbb{C}\left[x, y, z, w, \frac{1}{xw - yz}\right]$$

we have $\mathcal{O}(GL(2))^U = \mathbb{C}\left[x, y, \frac{1}{xw-yz}\right]$, and $\mathcal{O}(X)^U \subset \mathcal{O}(GL(2))^U = \mathbb{C}\left[x, y, \frac{1}{xw-yz}\right]$. Since $A_X := \mathcal{O}(X)^U \subset \mathcal{O}(GL(2))^U = \mathbb{C}\left[x, y, \frac{1}{xw-yz}\right]$, we can construct some examples of GL(2)-embeddings when A_X is generated by monomials.

Assume that A_X is generated by monomials. Note that $\mathcal{O}(X)^U$ is finitely generated by Theorem 3.1.1. Also by Theorem 1.3.1, A_X is normal when X is a normal variety. Therefore we can find a rational strongly convex cone σ_X in $\mathbb{R}^3 = \mathbb{Z}^3 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ where

$$M_X := \left\{ (p, q, r) \in \mathbb{Z}^3 | x^p y^q \left(\frac{1}{xw - yz} \right)^r \in A_X \right\} = \sigma_X \cap \mathbb{Z}^3.$$

Pick a set of lattice points $\{(p_i, q_i, r_i)\}_{i=1\cdots t}$ which generates M_X as a monoid. Now define V_n to be the \mathbb{C} -vector space of degree d homogeneous polynomials in $\mathbb{C}\left[x, y, \frac{1}{xw-yz}\right]$, with a action of G as $f \mapsto {}^gf$. (This action can be described as follows : if $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in GL(2)$, then x maps to ax + cy, y maps to bx + dy and $\left(\frac{1}{xw-yz}\right)$ maps to $\left(\frac{1}{(ad-bc)(xw-yz)}\right)$.) Now consider the element

$$f = \left(x^{p_1}y^{q_1}\left(\frac{1}{xw - yz}\right)^{r_1}, \cdots, x^{p_t}y^{q_t}\left(\frac{1}{xw - yz}\right)^{r_t}\right)$$

, in $\oplus_{i=1}^t V_{p_i+q_i+r_i}$.

Lemma 4.0.3. Assume that σ is a cone in \mathbb{R}^3 , which does not lie on any plane ax + by + cz = 0 with integers a, b, c satisfying a + b + c = 0. Then the stabilizer of f is trivial.

Proof. Suppose that ${}^{g}f = f$ holds for some $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in GL(2)$. Then for each i,

$$(ax + cy)^{p_i}(bx + dy)^{q_i}((ad - bc)(xw - yz))^{-r_i} = x^{p_i}y^{q_i}(xw - yz)^{-r_i}$$

Since we can find two linearly independent (p_i, q_i) by assumption, there are nonzero p_i and q_i , which implies that ab = 0 and cd = 0 (by comparing the coefficients of $x^{p_i+q_i}$ and $y^{p_i+q_i}$.) Because $ad - bc \neq 0$ and there is i such that $p_i \neq q_i$, we have b = c = 0. Therefore, $a^{p_i}d^{q_i}(ad)^{-r_i} = a^{(p_i-r_i)}d^{(q_i-r_i)} = 1$ for each i.

By assumption, we can find $i, j \in \{1, \dots, t\}$ such that $(p_i - r_i, q_i - r_i)$ is linearly independent from $(p_j - r_j, q_j - r_j)$. (If they are dependent for all i, j, there are integers A, B such that $A(p_i - r_i) + B(q_i - r_i) = 0$ for all i, and this leads a contradiction to the assumption.) Hence we can find α, β such that $\alpha(p_i - r_i, q_i - r_i) - \beta(p_j - r_j, q_j - r_j) = (1, 0)$. Then

$$1 = \frac{(a^{(p_i - r_i)}d^{(q_i - r_i)})^{\alpha}}{(a^{(p_j - r_j)}d^{(q_j - r_j)})^{\beta}} = a^{\alpha(p_i - r_i) - \beta(p_j - r_j)}d^{\alpha(q_i - r_i) - \beta(q_j - r_j)} = a.$$

Similarly, we can show d = 1. Therefore, we can conclude that the stabilizer of f in GL(2) is the trivial group.

From the lemma, the closure of the orbit $\overline{GL(2)} \cdot \overline{f}$ in $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{t} V_{p_i+q_i+r_i}$ gives GL(2)embedding when σ is the cone in \mathbb{R}^3 , which does not lie on any plane ax+by+cz = 0with integers a, b, c satisfying a + b + c = 0. Let's first consider the case when $r_i = 0$ for all i and the cone σ lies in the ij-plane. Then M_X is generated by $\{(p_i, q_i, 0)\}_{i=1\cdots t}$. Say $f = (x^{p_1}y^{q_1}, \cdots, x^{p_t}y^{q_t})$ is the element in $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{t} V_{p_i+q_i}$. As we discuss above, $X := \overline{GL(2) \cdot f}$ is affine normal GL(2)-embedding. By 4, we can conclude that $\mathcal{O}(X) = \langle GL(2) \cdot f \rangle$.

Note that every one parameter subgroup of GL(2) has the form $g\begin{pmatrix} t^a & 0 \\ 0 & t^b \end{pmatrix}g^{-1}$ for some $g \in GL(2)$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$. Considering an equivalence relation on one-parameter subgroups, we have:

Lemma 4.0.4. The set $(\mathfrak{X}_*(GL(2)) - {\epsilon}) / \sim$ can be described as follows:

$$\left\{ g \begin{pmatrix} t^a & 0 \\ 0 & t^b \end{pmatrix} g^{-1} \mid a-b \ge 0, (a,b) = 1, g = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha & 1 \end{pmatrix} (\alpha \in \mathbb{C}) \text{ or } g = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$

Proof. Define the right hand side set as W. To show the claim, we need to prove 1) any non-trivial $\gamma(t) \in \mathfrak{X}_*(GL(2))$ is equivalent to one of the elements in W, and 2) any two elements in W are not equivalent. For $\lambda_{(a,b)}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t^a & 0 \\ 0 & t^b \end{pmatrix}$ and $g = \begin{pmatrix} p & q \\ r & s \end{pmatrix}$, we can compute $\lambda_0(t)g\lambda_{(a,b)}(t^{-1}) = \begin{pmatrix} p & qt^{a-b} \\ rt^{b-a} & s \end{pmatrix}$. Therefore this element is in $G_{k[[t]]}$ if and only if r = 0 when a > b, q = 0 when a < b, and always when a = b.

So when a > b,

$$P(\lambda_{(a,b)})(t)) = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} p & q \\ 0 & s \end{array} \right) \in GL(2) \quad \middle| \quad p,q,s \in \mathbb{C} \right\},$$

when a < b,

$$P(\lambda_{(a,b)})(t)) = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} p & 0 \\ r & s \end{array} \right) \in GL(2) \ \middle| \ p,r,s \in \mathbb{C} \right\},$$

and when a = b

$$P(\lambda_{(a,b)})(t)) = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{c} p & q \\ r & s \end{array} \right) \in GL(2) \quad \middle| \quad p,q,r,s \in \mathbb{C} \right\} = GL(2).$$

Therefore when a = b, we have $g \cdot \lambda_{(a,b)} \sim \lambda_{(a,b)}$, so it is equivalent to either $\sim \lambda_{(1,1)}$ or $\sim \lambda_{(-1,-1)}$.

Now assume that $\gamma(t) = g\lambda_{(a,b)}(t)g^{-1} \in \mathfrak{X}_*(SL(2))$ with $g = \begin{pmatrix} p & q \\ r & s \end{pmatrix}$ and non-

negative integer *n*. Since $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_{(a,b)} = \lambda_{(b,a)}$, we only need to check when a > b. We can observe that

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} p & q \\ r & s \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{r}{p} & 1 \end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} p & q \\ 0 & s - \frac{qr}{p} \end{array}\right)$$

if p is nonzero, and

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} p & q \\ r & s \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} r & s \\ 0 & q \end{array}\right)$$

if p is zero.

Say $a' = \frac{a}{(a,b)}$ and $b' = \frac{b}{(a,b)}$. If p is nonzero,

$$\gamma(t) = g \cdot \lambda_{(a,b)}(t) \sim g \cdot \lambda_{(a',b')}(t) \sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{r}{p} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p & q \\ 0 & s - \frac{qr}{p} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_{(a',b')}(t)$$
$$\sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{r}{p} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p & q \\ 0 & s - \frac{qr}{p} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_{(a',b')}(t) \end{pmatrix} \sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{r}{p} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_{(a',b')}(t).$$

Similarly, if p is zero,

$$\gamma(t) = g \cdot \lambda_{(a,b)}(t) \sim g \cdot \lambda_{(a',b')}(t) \sim \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} r & s \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix} \lambda_{(a',b')}(t)$$
$$\sim \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} r & s \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_{(a',b')}(t) \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \lambda_{(a',b')}(t).$$

Therefore, the first assertion is proved. The second assertion can be proved similarly with the proof of Lemma 3.5.1. $\hfill \Box$

Hence it is enough to check limits when an one-parameter subgroup is one of the followings:

$$\gamma(t) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} t^a & 0\\ \alpha(t^a - t^b) & t^b \end{array}\right).$$

This one-parameter subgroup acts on the monomial $x^p y^q$ as

$$\gamma(t)(x^{p}y^{q}) = (t^{a}x + \alpha(t^{a} - t^{b})y)^{p}(t^{b}y)^{q} = \sum_{j=0}^{p} \alpha^{p-j} \binom{p}{j} (t^{(aj+bq)})(t^{a} - t^{b})^{(p-j)}x^{j}y^{p+q-j}.$$

From this we obtain the following:

- 1. When $\alpha = 0$, the limit $\lim_{t \to 0} \gamma(t)(x^p y^q)$ exists when $\lim_{t \to 0} (t^{(ap+bq)})$ exists, which is equivalent to $ap + bq \ge 0$.
- 2. When $\alpha \neq 0$, the limit $\lim_{t \to 0} \gamma(t)(x^p y^q)$ exists when for all j, $\lim_{t \to 0} (t^{(aj+bq)})(t^a t^b)^{(p-j)}$ exists. If a = b, the limit exists if and only if $(ap+bq) = 2a(p+q) \ge 0$. If $a \neq b$, the limit exists if and only if $(aj + bq) + a(p - j) \ge 0$ and $(aj + bq) + b(p - j) \ge 0$ for all j. It is easy to observe that this is equivalent to $ap + bq \ge 0$ (which includes the case a = b) and $b \ge 0$.

Therefore for $f = (x^{p_1}y^{q_1}, \dots, x^{p_t}y^{q_t})$, the limit $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)f$ exists (which automatically implies that $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t)f$ exists in X by definition of X) if and only if, either

- 1. $\alpha = 0$ and $ap_i + bq_i \ge 0$ for all i, or
- 2. $\alpha \neq 0, b \geq 0$ and $ap_i + bq_i \geq 0$ for all i

Hence the cone structure of X can be described as following:



Remark 2. When $g = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, $g \begin{pmatrix} t^a & 0 \\ 0 & t^b \end{pmatrix} g^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} t^b & 0 \\ 0 & t^a \end{pmatrix}$, so it can be described together in the first picture. Also when a < b, we have $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in P(\lambda_{(a,b)(t)})$, therefore $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} t^a & 0 \\ 0 & t^b \end{pmatrix} \sim \begin{pmatrix} t^a & 0 \\ 0 & t^b \end{pmatrix}$, so a < b part of $\Gamma(X, x_0) \cap \mathfrak{X}_*(T)$ for each maximal torus T should be all same when G = GL(2).

For the general cone σ which satisfies the property in the above lemma, M_X is generated by $\{(p_i, q_i, r_i)\}_{i=1\cdots t}$. Say $f = \left(x^{p_1}y^{q_1} + \left(\frac{1}{xw-yz}\right)^{r_1}, \cdots, x^{p_t}y^{q_t} + \left(\frac{1}{xw-yz}\right)^{r_t}\right)$ is an element in $\oplus_{i=1}^t V_{p_i+q_i+r_i}$. Then $X := \overline{GL(2) \cdot f}$ is affine normal GL(2)embedding. Hence we can conclude that $\mathcal{O}(X) = \langle GL(2) \cdot f \rangle$. The one-parameter subgroup $\gamma(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t^a & 0\\ \alpha(t^a - t^b) & t^b \end{pmatrix}$ acts on the monomial $x^p y^q \left(\frac{1}{xw-yz}\right)^r$ as

$$\begin{split} \gamma(t) \left(x^p y^q \left(\frac{1}{xw - yz} \right)^r \right) &= (t^a x + \alpha (t^a - t^b) y)^p (t^b y)^q (\frac{1}{t^{a+b} (xw - yz)})^r \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^p \alpha^{p-j} \binom{p}{j} (t^{aj+bq-r(a+b)}) (t^a - t^b)^{(p-j)} x^j y^{p+q-j} \end{split}$$

From this we obtain the following:

- 1. When $\alpha = 0$, the limit $\gamma(t) \left(x^p y^q \left(\frac{1}{xw yz} \right)^r \right)$ exists when $\lim_{t \to 0} (t^{(ap+bq-r(a+b))})$ exists, which is equivalent to $a(p-r) + b(q-r) \ge 0$.
- 2. When $\alpha \neq 0$, the limit $\lim_{t\to 0} \gamma(t) \left(x^p y^q \left(\frac{1}{xw-yz}\right)^r\right)$ exists when for all j, $\lim_{t\to 0} (t^{(aj+bq)})(t^a - t^b)^{(p-j)}$ exists. If a = b, the limit exists if and only if $(ap+bq) - r(a+b) = a(p+q-2r) \geq 0$. If $a \neq b$, the limit exists if and only if $(aj+bq) - r(a+b) + a(p-j) \geq 0$ and $(aj+bq) + b(p-j) - r(a+b) \geq 0$ for all j. It is easy to observe that this is equivalent to $(p-r)a + (q-r)b \geq 0$ (which includes the case when a = b) and $-ra + b(p+q-r) \geq 0$.

Therefore for $f = \left(x^{p_1}y^{q_1} + \left(\frac{1}{xw-yz}\right)^{r_1}, \cdots, x^{p_t}y^{q_t} + \left(\frac{1}{xw-yz}\right)^{r_t}\right), \lim_{t \to 0} \gamma(t)f$ exists (which automatically implies that $\lim_{t \to 0} \gamma(t)f$ exists in X by definition of X) if and only if either

1.
$$\alpha = 0$$
 and $a(p_i - r_i) + b(q_i - r_i) \ge 0$ for all i , or

2.
$$\alpha \neq 0, -ar + (p_i + q_i - r_i)b \geq 0$$
 and $a(p_i - r_i) + b(q_i - r_i) \geq 0$ for all *i*.

Unlike SL(2) case, the cone structures $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ are not unique for affine normal GL(2)-embeddings. Therefore, we can expect that this structure implies some characteristics of those embeddings, and it might help us find an explicit way to classify general G-embeddings. Also this GL(2)-embedding construction is interesting when we study the properties of embeddings of homogeneous space with complexity 1. Because the codimension of a Borel subgroup is 1, the complexity is 1 for GL(2)-embedding. We have a combinatorial description for the complexity 1 case [32], but general theories are not well developed on this kind of variety. For more studies of complexity 1 case, it would be helpful to have a precise description of affine normal GL(2)-embeddings. We hope that the cone structure $\Gamma(X, x_0)$ can contribute to many problems related to affine normal G-embeddings, and furthermore, general embedding theory.

Bibliography

- [1] D. Akhiezer. Spherical Varieties, volume 199 of Schriftenreihe, Heft Nr. Ruhr-Universitat-Bochum, 1993.
- [2] Ivan V. Arzhantsev. Affine embeddings of homogeneous spaces. In Surveys in geometry and number theory: reports on contemporary Russian mathematics, volume 338 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 1–51. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2007.
- [3] Ivan V. Arzhantsev and Dmitri A. Timashev. On the canonical embeddings of certain homogeneous spaces. In *Lie groups and invariant theory*, volume 213 of *Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2*, pages 63–83. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [4] A. Bialynicki-Birula. Some theorems on actions of algebraic groups. Ann. of Math. (2), 98:480-497, 1973.
- [5] Emili Bifet, Corrado De Concini, and Claudio Procesi. Cohomology of regular embeddings. Adv. Math., 82(1):1–34, 1990.
- [6] Michel Brion. Vers une généralisation des espaces symétriques. J. Algebra, 134(1):115-143, 1990.
- [7] Michel Brion. Spherical varieties. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Zürich, 1994), pages 753-760, Basel, 1995. Birkhäuser.
- [8] D. Cox, J. Littleand, and H. Schenck. *Toric Varieties*, volume 124 of *Graduate Studies in Mathematics*. American Mathematics Society, 2011.
- [9] Corrado De Concini. Equivariant embeddings of homogeneous spaces. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Berkeley, Calif., 1986), pages 369–377, Providence, RI, 1987. Amer. Math. Soc.
- [10] Gene Freudenburg. A survey of counterexamples to Hilbert's fourteenth problem. Serdica Math. J., 27(3):171–192, 2001.

- [11] William Fulton. Introduction to toric varieties, volume 131 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993. The William H. Roever Lectures in Geometry.
- [12] Frank Grosshans. Observable groups and Hilbert's fourteenth problem. Amer. J. Math., 95:229–253, 1973.
- [13] Frank D. Grosshans. Algebraic homogeneous spaces and invariant theory, volume 1673 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997.
- [14] D. Hadziev. Certain questions of the theory of vector invariants. Mat. Sb. (N.S.), 72 (114):420-435, 1967.
- [15] James E. Humphreys. *Linear algebraic groups*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1975. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 21.
- [16] G. Kempf, Finn Faye Knudsen, D. Mumford, and B. Saint-Donat. *Toroidal embeddings. I.* Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 339. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1973.
- [17] George R. Kempf. Instability in invariant theory. Ann. of Math. (2), 108(2):299–316, 1978.
- [18] Friedrich Knop. The Luna-Vust theory of spherical embeddings. In Proceedings of the Hyderabad Conference on Algebraic Groups (Hyderabad, 1989), pages 225–249. Manoj Prakashan.
- [19] Friedrich Knop. On the set of orbits for a Borel subgroup. Comment. Math. Helv., 70(2):285–309, 1995.
- [20] Hanspeter Kraft. Geometrische Methoden in der Invariantentheorie. Aspects of Mathematics, D1. Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, 1984.
- [21] Ivan V. Losev. Uniqueness property for spherical homogeneous spaces. Duke Math. J., 147(2):315–343, 2009.
- [22] D. Luna and Th. Vust. Plongements d'espaces homogènes. Comment. Math. Helv., 58(2):186-245, 1983.
- [23] D. Mumford, J. Fogarty, and F. Kirwan. Geometric invariant theory, volume 34 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (2) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (2)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, third edition, 1994.
- [24] D. Murphy. Affine embeddings of a reductive group. arXiv:1012.3967v1.
- [25] B. Pasquier. Introduction to spherical varieties and description of special classes of spherical varieties. Lecture Note for KIAS special lectures, Seoul, South Korea.

- [26] V. L. Popov. Singularities of closures of orbits. In Quantum deformations of algebras and their representations (Ramat-Gan, 1991/1992; Rehovot, 1991/1992), volume 7 of Israel Math. Conf. Proc., pages 133-141.
- [27] V. L. Popov. On the stability of the action of an algebraic group on an algebraic variety. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat., 36:371–385, 1972.
- [28] V. L. Popov. Quasihomogeneous affine algebraic varieties of the group SL(2). Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat, 37:792–832, 1973.
- [29] Maxwell Rosenlicht. A remark on quotient spaces. An. Acad. Brasil. Ci., 35:487–489, 1963.
- [30] Hideyasu Sumihiro. Equivariant completion. J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 14:1–28, 1974.
- [31] D. A. Timashëv. Equivariant compactifications of reductive groups. Mat. Sb., 194(4):119–146, 2003.
- [32] Dmitry A. Timashev. Homogeneous spaces and equivariant embeddings, volume 138 of Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer, Heidelberg, 2011. Invariant Theory and Algebraic Transformation Groups, 8.
- [33] E. B. Vinberg. Complexity of actions of reductive groups. Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen., 20(1):1–13, 96, 1986.
- [34] Thierry Vust. Plongements d'espaces symétriques algébriques: une classification. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), 17(2):165–195, 1990.